Global Multidimensional Poverty Index 2022



Unpacking deprivation bundles to reduce multidimensional poverty





The team that created this report included Sabina Alkire, Cecilia Calderón, Pedro Conceição, Maya Evans, Alexandra Fortacz, Admir Jahic, Moumita Ghorai, Carolina Given Sjolander, Tasneem Mirza, Ricardo Nogales, Sophie Scharlin-Pettee, Marium Soomro, Som Kumar Shrestha, Nicolai Suppa and Heriberto Tapia. Research assistants included Jeannot Xavier Andriamanantena, Derek Apell, Agustin Casarini and Vibhuti Gour. Maarit Kivilo supported the design work at OPHI. Peer reviewers included Adriana Conconi, Maria Ana Lugo, Badri Narayanang, Bishwa Nath Tiwari, Frances Stewart and Cara Williams. The team would like to thank the editors and layout artists at Communications Development Incorporated—led by Bruce Ross-Larson, with Joe Caponio, Christopher Trott and Elaine Wilson.

This report provides new analyses of the 2022 update of the global Multidimensional Poverty Index, whose data are open source available to anyone interested in multidimensional poverty. Visit http://hdr.undp.org and https://ophi.org.uk to further explore the data and to read technical and methodological notes and ongoing research.

For a list of any errors and omissions found subsequent to printing, please visit http://hdr.undp.org and https://ophi.org.uk/multidimensional-poverty-index/.





GLOBAL MULTIDIMENSIONAL POVERTY INDEX 2022

Unpacking deprivation bundles to reduce multidimensional poverty

Contents

Introduction	1
What is the global Multidimensional Poverty Index?	3
Data update for the 2022 global Multidimensional Poverty Index	4

1

2

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

Α

PART I

INTERLINKAGES-FROM UNDERSTANDING OVERLAPPING DEPRIVATIONS TO DEVELOPING INTEGRATED MULTISECTORAL POLICIES Understanding interlinked deprivations

Understanding interlinked deprivations	6
Poverty declines and the role of interlinkages: Three case studies	11
Galvanizing policy efforts to reduce interlinked deprivations	15

PART II

LEVELS AND TRENDS FROM THE 2022 GLOBAL MULTIDIMENSIONAL POVERTY INDEX	
Who are the 1.2 billion poor people, and where do they live?	18
How well were countries reducing poverty before the COVID-19 pandemic?	18
How has the COVID-19 pandemic affected multidimensional poverty?	18
India: 415 million people exit poverty in 15 years, Multidimensional Poverty Index value and incidence of poverty more than halved	19
Call to action: The data revolution risks leaving poverty data behind	23
Statistical tables	31
Notes	26
References	26

STATISTICAL TABLES Multidimensional Poverty Index: developing countries 32 Multidimensional Poverty Index: changes over time 35 based on harmonized estimates **FIGURES** The 20 most common deprivation profiles among poor people across 111 developing countries 7 The 20 most common deprivation profiles among poor people in each developing region 8 The 31 deprivation triplets that affect the largest number of poor people across 111 developing countries 11 The most common deprivation profiles among poor people in Ethiopia, 2019 12 The most common deprivation profiles among poor people in Lao People's Democratic Republic, 2017 13 The most common deprivation profiles among poor people in Nepal, 2019 15 What deprivations do poor people face? 19 The poorest states in India saw the fastest absolute reduction in Multidimensional Poverty Index value from 2015/2016 to 2019/2021 21 The most common deprivation profiles among poor people in India, 2019/2021 22 10 Interlinked deprivations with school attendance among poor people in India, 2019/2021 23 11 Number of Demographic and Health Surveys and Multiple Indicator Cluster Surveys conducted annually, 1985–2021 25 TABLE All deprivation pairs and the number of poor people experiencing each pair across 111 developing countries (millions) 10

Introduction

The lives of poor people are complex, in part because multiple deprivations strike them together. This complexity has only increased in the wake of the COVID-19 pandemic and the outbreak of the war in Ukraine. Rising food and fuel prices, climate shocks and a looming global recession have compounded uncertainties and postpandemic challenges.¹ Not only could more people become poor, but the intensity of poverty could increase. By looking closely at the interlinked deprivations of poor people, this report provides valuable insights on how to tackle multidimensional poverty—referred to simply as "poverty" throughout—by addressing its multiple dimensions.

The microdata used to estimate the 2022 global Multidimensional Poverty Index (MPI) values are gathered from household surveys across 111 countries, covering 6.1 billion people. This report uses those estimates to make visible, for the first time, common deprivation profiles and bundles: combinations of deprivations experienced by 1.2 billion poor people, or nearly double the number of people in monetary poverty.² Such data can be used in responses from the global to the local level. As Dr. Teresa de Jesus, who works at a health centre in Tomalá, Honduras, reminds us, "The challenge for us as a community is to join forces. Focusing only on health will not work; family income and housing conditions also limit a child's development and increase the risk for undernourishment."3 Understanding these deprivation profiles-or bundles-helps in designing integrated policies that can tackle multiple deprivations at once.

Because most countries conducted their latest household survey prior to 2020, the impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic on poverty cannot yet be assessed. Further, the infrequency of household surveys makes it increasingly difficult to observe the latest trends in poverty. For example, the three poorest countries (Niger, South Sudan and Burkina Faso), home to 50 million people living in acute poverty, last collected data in 2010 or 2012. Yet data on billionaires are updated every hour—a jarring data inequality.⁴ Simulations in the 2020 edition of this report suggested that the pandemic set progress in reducing MPI values back by 3–10 years;⁵ emerging postpandemic data indicate that the worst of these scenarios may become a reality.

Nevertheless, the MPI yields important insights by facilitating cross-country analysis and presenting long-term trends. Of the 81 countries with trend data, 72 significantly reduced their MPI value during at least one of the time periods analysed. Of these 72 countries, 68 significantly reduced deprivations among poor people in five or more indicators during that period, with 46 reducing deprivations in eight or more. These trends are promising: many countries have already reduced deprivations in multiple indicators.

A special section of this report highlights trends over 15 years in India, where the number of poor people dropped by about 415 million. The poorest states reduced poverty the fastest, and deprivations in all indicators fell significantly among poor people. Poverty among children fell faster in absolute terms, although India still has the highest number of poor children in the world (97 million, or 21.8 percent of children ages 0–17 in India).⁶

The report issues a call to action to conduct frequent and up-to-date household surveys in order to measure poverty and launch strategic tools to eliminate abject poverty, even as new threats arise. Recent data are vital for planning, designing policies, and incentivizing and recognizing change. Regular multitopic household surveys, while not perfect, are the best instrument for estimating multidimensional poverty. But advances in data collection have not improved the frequency or breadth of these surveys.

Key findings

The 2022 global Multidimensional Poverty Index

- Across 111 countries, 1.2 billion people—19.1 percent
 —live in acute multidimensional poverty (referred to as "poverty" throughout). Half of these people (593 million) are children under age 18.
- The developing region where the largest number of poor people live is Sub-Saharan Africa (nearly 579 million), followed by South Asia (385 million).
- Simulations in 2020 suggested that the COVID-19 pandemic had set progress in reducing Multidimensional Poverty Index (MPI) values back by 3-10 years. Updated data indicate that the setback at the global level is likely to be on the high end of those projections.
- In India 415 million people exited poverty between 2005/06 and 2019/21, demonstrating that the Sustainable Development Goal target 1.2 of reducing at least by half the proportion of men, women and children of all ages living in poverty in all its dimensions according to national definitions by 2030 is possible to achieve—and at scale. The poorest states and groups (children, lower castes and those living in rural areas) reduced poverty the fastest in absolute terms, although the data do not reflect post-Covid-19 pandemic changes.
- Of the 81 countries with trend data, covering roughly 5 billion people, 72 experienced a statistically significant reduction in absolute terms in MPI value during at least one of the periods analysed.
- Addressing poverty requires better data. The infrequency of household surveys makes it difficult to assess the true impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on poverty. The data revolution must not leave the collection of poverty data behind.

Interlinkages

- Identifying the overlaps between poverty indicators —that is, when deprivations affect the same person or household simultaneously—can make the MPI a more precise policy tool.
- Almost half of poor people (470.1 million) are deprived in both nutrition and sanitation, potentially making them more vulnerable to infectious diseases. In addition, over half of poor people (593.3 million) are simultaneously deprived in both cooking fuel and electricity.
- The magnitude of existing deprivation bundles reveals the fragility of poverty in the current context. The existing structure of deprivations is likely to amplify the shocks of rising food prices (affecting nutrition and living standards) and rising energy prices (affecting access to clean cooking fuel) and to limit the effectiveness of development strategies centred on closing digital gaps (impossible without affordable electricity).
- Deprivation profiles vary by developing region. A poor person in South Asia is more likely to be deprived in nutrition, cooking fuel, sanitation and housing, while a poor person in Sub-Saharan Africa is more likely to have those deprivations and to be deprived in drinking water and electricity as well.

What is the global Multidimensional Poverty Index?

The global Multidimensional Poverty Index (MPI) is a key international resource that measures acute multidimensional poverty across more than 100 developing countries. First launched in 2010 by the Oxford Poverty and Human Development Initiative at the University of Oxford and the Human Development Report Office of the United Nations Development Programme, the global MPI advances Sustainable Development Goal 1, holding the world accountable to its resolution to end poverty in all its forms everywhere.

The global MPI begins by constructing a deprivation profile for each household and person in it that monitors deprivations in 10 indicators spanning health, education and standard of living (see figure). For example, a household and all people living in it are deprived if any child is stunted or any child or adult for whom data are available is underweight; if at least one child died in the past five years; if any school-aged child is not attending school up to the age at which he or she would complete class 8 or no household member has completed six years of schooling; or if the household lacks access to electricity, an improved source of drinking water within a 30 minute walk round trip,¹ an improved sanitation facility that is not shared,² nonsolid cooking fuel, durable housing materials, and basic assets such as a radio, animal cart, phone, television or bicycle. A person's deprivation score is the sum of the weighted deprivations she or he experiences. All indicators are equally weighted within each dimension, so the health and education indicators are weighted ½ each, and the standard of living indicators are weighted ½ each. The global MPI identifies people as multidimensionally poor if their deprivation score is ½ or higher.

MPI values are the product of the incidence of poverty (proportion of people who live in multidimensional poverty) and the intensity of poverty (average deprivation score among multidimensionally poor people). The MPI is therefore sensitive to changes in both components. The MPI ranges from 0 to 1, and higher values imply higher poverty. The precise definition of each indicator is available online, together with any country-specific adjustments and the computer code used to calculate the global MPI value for each country.³

By identifying who is poor, the nature of their poverty (their deprivation profile) and how poor they are (deprivation score), the global MPI complements the international \$1.90 a day poverty rate.⁴



Structure of the global Multidimensional Poverty Index

Source: OPHI and HDRO.

Notes

1. Based on the definition for basic drinking water at https://washdata.org/monitoring/drinking-water. 2. Based on the definition for basic sanitation at https://washdata.org/monitoring/sanitation. 3. Alkire, Kanagaratnam and Suppa 2022a; UNDP 2022; https://hdr.undp.org/mpi-statistical-programmes. In addition to tables 1 and 2 of this report, disaggregated estimates by rural and urban areas, age cohort, gender of household head and subnational regions; alternative poverty cutoffs; sample sizes; standard errors; and indicator details produced by OPHI are available at https://ophi.org.uk/multidimensional-poverty-index/data-tables-do-files/. 4. The \$1.90 a day poverty line is based on 2011 purchasing power parity (PPP) dollars. The World Bank recently published poverty estimates using an updated poverty line of \$2.15 a day based on 2017 PPP dollars (World Bank 2022a).

The 2022 global Multidimensional Poverty Index (MPI) uses the most recent comparable data available for 111 countries—23 low-income countries, 85 middle-income countries and 3 high-income countries. These countries home to 6.1 billion people, 1.2 billion (or 19.1 percent) of whom live in poverty—account for about 92 percent of the population in developing regions.¹ The global MPI shows who they are, where they live and what deprivations hold them back from achieving the wellbeing they deserve. MPI values, the incidence and intensity of poverty, and component indicators are disaggregated by age group, rural and urban areas and gender of the household head as well as for 1,287 subnational regions. Trends in reducing MPI values are available for 81 countries and 810 subnational regions, as well as for age groups and areas. These estimates help in meeting the central, transformative promise of the 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development: to leave no one behind.

Table 1 at the end of the report presents global MPI estimates using the latest surveys available at the time of computation. The year of the surveys ranges from 2010 to 2020/2021. This edition provides updated estimates for 12 countries, including India, and introduces estimates for three countries.² The 2022 estimates are based on Multiple Indicator Cluster Surveys for 54 countries, Demographic and Health Surveys for 45 countries and national surveys for 12 countries. For 83 countries, home to 81.3 percent of poor people, data were fielded in 2016 or later—after the Sustainable Development Goals were adopted. Of these, 35 countries, home to 37.1 percent of poor people, have data fielded in 2019 or later. Harmonized trends are presented for 81 countries using data from 2000 to 2020/2021. Of these, 35 countries have data for three points in time, and one country, Gambia, has data for four.

Although most data predate the COVID-19 pandemic, they nevertheless offer a reference point for measuring the pandemic's impact on poverty.

Notes

1. All population figures refer to 2020 (in continuation of past reports, which update the population figures by one year from the previous edition) and are drawn from UNDESA (2022). **2.** The countries with updated estimates are the Dominican Republic, Ecuador, Gambia, Honduras, India, Jamaica, Malawi, Mauritania, Mexico, Peru, Rwanda and Viet Nam. The new countries with estimates are Argentina, Samoa and Tuvalu. See table 1 for survey type and year of survey.



Interlinkages from understanding overlapping deprivations to developing integrated multisectoral policies Multidimensional poverty—referred to simply as "poverty" throughout this report—is diverse. A poor person in one part of the world is not deprived in the same way as a poor person somewhere else. Within the same country a person who lives in a village may be poor because of deprivations in years of schooling, school attendance, sanitation and cooking fuel, while a person who lives in a city may experience poverty because of deprivations in nutrition, years of schooling, housing and assets. These differences, shown by the MPI, shed light on what poverty means for different people.

The MPI also reveals interlinkages: interlinked deprivations that affect the same person or household simultaneously, meaning that they are both (or all) part of a person's deprivation profile. Deprivation bundles are pairs, triplets or larger groups of interlinked deprivations that make up all or a subset of a person's deprivation profile. For example, 80 percent of poor people who are deprived in drinking water also experience deprivations in sanitation, an interlinked pair. A poor person deprived in sanitation and drinking water is also deprived in additional indicators. A poor person in Sub-Saharan Africa is more likely than a poor person in South Asia to lack clean energy, highlighting regional differences. The MPI dataset includes more than 850 combinations of the 10 measured deprivations, which can deepen understanding of the texture of poverty across developing countries.

The MPI provides unique insights into the conditions of poverty and how they vary across age groups, urban and rural areas and subnational locations. It guides policymakers on specific interventions that will be meaningful for individuals and families experiencing poverty. Integrated multisectoral policies can not only lift millions out of poverty but also minimize poor people's burden by enabling them to overcome multiple deprivations at the same time. The Sustainable Development Goals recognize this. The global MPI information platform includes interlinkages built from extensive analysis of the deprivation profiles of poor people across 111 countries located mainly in developing regions. For the first time this report presents these deprivation profiles and, through country case studies, the policy implications that can be drawn from them. The rest of this section describes the profiles and explains how they can be used to guide policy.

Understanding interlinked deprivations

Uncovering the poverty knots: The most common deprivation profiles

The analysis first looks at the most common deprivation profiles across 111 developing countries (figure 1). The most common profile, affecting 3.9 percent of poor people, includes deprivations in exactly four indicators: nutrition, cooking fuel, sanitation and housing.⁷ More than 45.5 million poor people are deprived in only these four indicators.⁸ Of those people, 34.4 million live in India, 2.1 million in Bangladesh and 1.9 million in Pakistan—making this a predominantly South Asian profile (figure 2).

The four deprivations in this bundle are embedded in other poverty profiles too. Beyond the 45.5 million poor people who are deprived in only these four indicators, 328.9 million poor people are deprived in these four indicators and others. Of the 374.4 million poor people deprived in these four indicators (some of whom are deprived in others), 224.8 million are in Sub-Saharan Africa, 122.9 million are in South Asia and 26.7 million are in other regions. Designing policies that address the four deprivations in this bundle will have a high impact on poverty by bringing people experiencing this deprivation profile out of poverty and by improving the lives of millions of other poor people who experience these deprivations along with others. Often, nutrition and standard of living interventions are pursued by different policy actions and ministries, but this analysis shows that these deprivations regularly go together. Making this deprivation bundle visible invites creative and vigorous innovations for poverty eradication policies. The solution likely requires multisectoral coordination.

The second most common deprivation profile contains only the six standard of living indicators.⁹ Nearly 41 million poor people have this profile. It is the most common profile in Sub-Saharan Africa, where it accounts for 5.9 percent of poor people (34.2 million; see figure 2). And it is the fourth most common profile in the Arab States, where the second most common profile includes the six standard of living deprivations as well as deprivations in nutrition, years of schooling and school attendance.



Figure 1 The 20 most common deprivation profiles among poor people across 111 developing countries

Note: The 10 deprivation profiles with a red dot in nutrition include the deprivations in the most common bundle (nutrition, cooking fuel, sanitation and housing), and the 8 deprivation profiles outlined in red include the deprivations in the second most common deprivation bundle (standard of living). Source: Authors' calculations based on Alkire, Nogales and Suppa (2022) and microdata underlying the Multidimensional Poverty Index computations in table 1 at the end of the report.

Across 111 developing countries 210.4 million poor people experience deprivations in all six standard of living indicators, and most of those people also experience deprivations in health or education indicators. For example, 8 of the 11 most common deprivation profiles in Sub-Saharan Africa and 8 of the 15 most common deprivation profiles in the Arab States include the standard of living bundle. But none of the 15 most common profiles in South Asia contains it. These findings point to policies that can improve standards of living in Sub-Saharan Africa and the Arab States by addressing challenges around housing and access to energy, basic water, sanitation and assets.

Another regional difference is that a poor person in Sub-Saharan Africa is far more likely than a poor person in other regions to be deprived in electricity and drinking water. All 20 of the most common profiles in Sub-Saharan Africa include deprivations in electricity.¹⁰ The region's electrification rate is 48.4 percent, and in at least eight countries, less than 20 percent of the population have access to electricity.¹¹ This in turn limits people's ability to access information, education, health services, legal services and more, with implications for multiple areas of human development. Despite an upward trend in access to electricity in recent years, preliminary data from the COVID-19 pandemic show a reversal of gains, with access to electricity down by 13 million people.¹²

These observations touch only the surface of what the MPI reveals about the poverty conditions across





⁽continued)





a. The most common deprivation profile is based on the profile for Mexico, where nutrition receives the full dimension weight of ½, and the second most common deprivation profile is based on the profile for Brazil, where child mortality receives the full dimension weight of ½.
 Source: Authors' calculations based on Alkire, Nogales and Suppa (2022) and microdata underlying the Multidimensional Poverty Index computations in table 1 at the end of the report.

developing countries. Still, they highlight how poverty is multifaceted and varies across developing regions and how, in the wake of the COVID-19 pandemic and with rising food insecurity, migration and climate change risks, decisive and well-targeted policies could help tackle poverty at scale.

Deprivation bundles: Pairs and triplets

Another policy-relevant angle is to focus on pairs and triplets of deprivations that poor people experience and that therefore may be addressed together.

Consider deprivations in sanitation and drinking water (table A). Many programmes throughout the world group these indicators together in so-called water, sanitation and hygiene (WASH) initiatives. More than 1 billion poor people are deprived in either sanitation or drinking water, and 437.1 million are deprived in both. The overwhelming majority of people who are deprived in both live in Sub-Saharan Africa (330.4 million), followed by South Asia (47.5 million). In Sub-Saharan Africa 57 percent of poor people are deprived in both sanitation and drinking water.

Deprivations often compound each other, so poverty reduction programmes aiming for high-impact results should analyse interlinked deprivations to design better policies. Just under half of poor people (470.1 million) are deprived in both nutrition and sanitation, potentially making them more vulnerable to infectious diseases (see table A). In addition, more than half of poor people (593.3 million) are deprived in both cooking fuel and electricity; clean energy interventions could tackle both deprivations. And 259.1 million poor people are deprived in both nutrition and school attendance. School feeding programmes are one integrated response to nutritional deprivations among children that also incentivizes school attendance.

Even countries with the same MPI value may have different deprivation profiles. For example, Liberia and Senegal have similar MPI values in a similar period (0.259 in 2019/2020 for Liberia and 0.263 in 2019

	Nutrition	Child mortality	Years of schooling	School attendance	Cooking fuel	Sanitation	Drinking water	Electricity	Housing	Assets
Nutrition	_									
Child mortality	82.9	_								
Years of schooling	279.7	55.3	_							
School attendance	259.1	54.1	242.2	—						
Cooking fuel	592.3	119.5	536.1	416.8	_					
Sanitation	470.1	100.3	447.9	339.4	808.4	—				
Drinking water	286.2	62.3	263.3	219.8	507.1	437.1	_			
Electricity	317.8	72.4	326.6	266.0	593.3	522.9	381.4	—		
Housing	506.7	101.5	485.5	368.1	862.2	735.3	444.9	547.4	_	
Assets	247.4	44.1	299.6	187.6	491.0	421.1	279.3	353.1	455.9	_
Total number of poor people deprived in indicator	681.5	145.7	595.4	474.2	1,035.4	860.7	532.7	608.2	913.7	513.2

Table A All deprivation pairs and the number of poor people experiencing each pair across 111 developing countries (millions)

Note: Each cell indicates the number of people who experience each deprivation pair. Dark green shading indicates the lowest numbers, yellow the middle numbers and dark red the highest numbers.

Source: Authors' calculations based on Alkire, Nogales and Suppa (2022) and microdata underlying the Multidimensional Poverty Index computations in table 1 at the end of the report.

for Senegal), but the share of poor people deprived in both sanitation and drinking water is 39.0 percent in Liberia and 21.9 percent in Senegal—both far below the Sub-Saharan Africa average of 57.1 percent. This type of information is vital for designing countryspecific water and sanitation programmes.

There are 120 possible deprivation triplets, and the diversity of deprivation patterns is striking. For example, 702.7 million poor people across 111 developing countries are deprived in cooking fuel, sanitation and housing—the triplet that affects the largest number of poor people (figure 3)—and 245.2 million are deprived in nutrition, years of schooling and cooking fuel. Except for the 36 triplets that include child mortality, only one triplet (nutrition, school attendance and assets) affects fewer than 100 million people.

While Sub-Saharan Africa is home to the highest number of poor people experiencing the most common triplets, the distribution across developing regions varies. For example, both the electricity, sanitation and housing triplet and the nutrition, housing and cooking fuel triplet affect 41 percent of poor people across 111 developing countries. But the first triplet affects 66.2 percent of poor people in Sub-Saharan Africa, 11.4 percent in South Asia and 0.2 percent in Europe and Central Asia, while the second affects a similar percentage of poor people in South Asia (46.4 percent) and Sub-Saharan Africa (44.8 percent) as well as 20.0 percent of poor people in Europe and Central Asia.

Where do the poorest of the poor live?

Leaving no one behind means focusing on the people with the highest deprivation scores. Across 111 developing countries 4.1 million poor people are deprived in all 10 MPI indicators. With a deprivation score of 100 percent, they are the poorest of the poor. Some 3.8 million of these people live in Sub-Saharan Africa, including 910,000 in Nigeria, 685,000 in Niger and 615,000 in Ethiopia. It is striking that the number of people deprived in all 10 indicators is higher in the Arab States (214,000, dominated by Sudan) than in South Asia (110,000, primarily in Pakistan and Afghanistan), despite the Arab States having one-fifth the population of South Asia. In Latin America and the Caribbean, Haiti has the most people in this poorest group (20,000); in East Asia and the Pacific, Papua New Guinea (27,000) and Myanmar (24,000) do. No poor person surveyed in Europe and Central Asia experienced deprivations in all 10 indicators-a positive sign that it is indeed possible to end such heavy deprivation.





Source: Authors' calculations based on Alkire, Nogales and Suppa (2022) and microdata underlying the Multidimensional Poverty Index computations in table 1 at the end of the report.

Poverty declines and the role of interlinkages: Three case studies

This section presents three country case studies— Ethiopia, Lao People's Democratic Republic and Nepal—that analyse the relationship among poverty reduction, multisectoral policy interventions and interlinked deprivations.

Ethiopia

Ethiopia registered impressive poverty reduction between 2011 and 2019, continuing the trend since the 2000s (though these data predate the COVID-19 pandemic and recent conflict). The country's MPI value declined from 0.491 in 2011 to 0.436 in 2016 to 0.367 in 2019, and the incidence of poverty declined from 83.5 percent to 77.4 percent to 68.8 percent. The reduction of poverty in the latest period was driven by a decrease in the percentage of people who are poor and deprived in years of schooling, followed by decreases in the percentages of people who are poor and deprived in drinking water, assets, electricity, housing, cooking fuel and sanitation. However, due to the recent shocks—the COVID-19 pandemic, drought, conflict in Northern Ethiopia and the war in Ukraine inflation has increased substantially, and poverty and human development gains may have been reversed.¹³

Multiple strategies have been instrumental in reducing monetary and multidimensional poverty in Ethiopia, which has seen impressive GDP growth rates, investment in infrastructure and strong agricultural growth,¹⁴ coupled with a national strategy towards industrialization and structural transformation.¹⁵ Among notable pro-poor government initiatives



Figure 4 The most common deprivation profiles among poor people in Ethiopia, 2019

Note: Includes the 23 profiles experienced by at least 1 percent of poor people in the country (out of 248 total profiles). **Source:** Authors' calculations based on Alkire, Nogales and Suppa (2022) and microdata underlying the Multidimensional Poverty Index computations in table 1 at the end of the report.

are the Productive Safety Net Programme (PSNP), reaching almost 12 million poor people (nearly 10 percent of the population) in rural areas,¹⁶ and its more recent urban counterpart,¹⁷ which tackled poverty by providing integrated support at the household level to address multiple deprivations, including income, nutrition, education and the environment. Preliminary analysis also suggests that the safety net programmes offset some impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic by simultaneously addressing food security, the environment and livelihoods.¹⁸ However, the conflict in Northern Ethiopia has affected the PSNP. The PSNP has been unavailable in Tigray since November 2020 and has been reduced in Afar and Amhara, leaving more than 1.6 million people across the three regions without support.19

The Multisectoral Woreda Transformation programme also engages multiple ministries to bring an integrated approach to development, adapting to the contexts and needs of each woreda (administrative district).²⁰ The programme tackles human development challenges at the household level by providing support with livelihoods, literacy and health. By presenting an opportunity to strengthen livelihoods through building skills, the programme also makes the most of the rising youth population and the country's demographic dividend.²¹

The most common deprivation profile in Ethiopia in 2019 is the standard of living profile, where people are deprived in all six standard of living indicators (cooking fuel, sanitation, drinking water, electricity, housing and assets; figure 4). The second most common profile is the standard of living profile plus deprivations in years of schooling. Nearly one in five poor people in Ethiopia experience one of these two profiles. Going forward, the country might gain from including a housing package in pro-poor programmes that concentrates on energy, water and sanitation facilities, as well as home improvements.

Lao People's Democratic Republic

Lao People's Democratic Republic saw a remarkable decline in poverty from 2011/2012 to 2017. The country's MPI value fell from 0.210 to 0.108, poverty incidence fell from 40.2 percent to 23.1 percent, and the percentage of people who are poor and deprived in

each indicator significantly declined. During this period the most progress was in reducing deprivations among poor people in cooking fuel, electricity, housing, sanitation and years of schooling. The percentage of people who are poor and deprived in electricity declined from 21.8 percent in 2011/2012 to 6.1 percent in 2017, while the percentage of people who are poor and deprived in cooking fuel declined from 40.2 percent to 22.9 percent. Progress was uneven across different regions, with the northern regions of Phongsaly and Oudomxay showing the largest poverty reduction.

Furthermore, between 2011/12 and 2017 rural poverty in Lao People's Democratic Republic declined from 50.9 percent to 30.9 percent, while urban poverty declined from 9.1 percent to 5.3 percent, narrowing the rural-urban gap and reducing overall geographic





Note: Includes the 24 profiles experienced by at least 1 percent of poor people in the country (out of 339 total profiles). **Source:** Authors' calculations based on Alkire, Nogales and Suppa (2022) and microdata underlying the Multidimensional Poverty Index computations in table 1 at the end of the report. inequalities. The government has invested in expanding rural infrastructure, roads, railways and services through partnerships that have enhanced market access in order to meet the growing demand for agricultural products (such as cassava, cardamom, coffee and tea) from neighbouring countries and that have improved livelihood opportunities.²² Despite commendable progress in reducing poverty and inequality, vulnerability to poverty remains a key concern. Farmers are susceptible to seasonality, informality, price shocks and changes in demand and are therefore more vulnerable to falling back into poverty than nonfarm households.²³ Heavy dependence on agriculture for employment is a further barrier to structural transformation and development.

The most common deprivation profile in Lao People's Democratic Republic in 2017 is one where the household has at least one malnourished child, has no eligible member who has completed at least six years of schooling and cooks with solid fuels (figure 5). The second most common profile is one where people are deprived in years of schooling, cooking fuel, sanitation and housing. Some 71.6 percent of poor people in the country are deprived in both years of schooling and cooking fuel. Several studies have found a significant relationship between education and cooking fuel, showing, for example, that household solid fuel usage is associated with higher deprivations in years of schooling, school attendance and age-appropriate grade progression among children (due to direct time substitution because of solid fuel collection and preparation) and that education is a strong predictor of liquefied petroleum gas adoption.²⁴ An integrated programme focused on years of schooling and cooking fuel shows promise for tackling poverty among the country's children and families.

Nepal

Nepal substantially reduced poverty between 2011 and 2019. The country's MPI value fell from 0.185 in 2011 to 0.111 in 2016 to 0.075 in 2019, and the incidence of poverty fell from 39.1 percent to 25.7 percent to 17.7 percent. This progress has been accompanied by notable improvements in sanitation, which saw the largest reduction in the percentage of people deprived in this indicator—from 34.1 percent to 16.3 percent to 6.6 percent among poor people and from 60.6 percent to 35.9 percent to 21.4 percent among the whole population.

Improvements in sanitation are highly correlated with improvements in other health indicators, such as child nutrition, child mortality and access to drinking water. A growing body of evidence points to the positive health benefits of having access to an improved sanitation facility and drinking water on child health and wellbeing through lower diarrhoeal incidence,25 a leading cause of child mortality in developing countries.26 Improved water and sanitation interventions can improve children's growth and nutritional status;27 poor nutrition accounts for nearly 45 percent of deaths among children under age 5 worldwide.28 The recent progress in reducing deprivations in sanitation and drinking water might have driven the improvement in children's nutrition and the decrease in childhood mortality in Nepal, contributing to the recent decline in MPI value.

The government of Nepal has endorsed a multisectoral approach to tackling the pervasive undernutrition problem among children under age 5. The Multi-Sectoral Nutrition Plan I (2013-2017)²⁹ and II (2018-2022)30 targeted both nutrition-specific and nutrition-sensitive programmes implemented through health, education, water and sanitation, and agriculture and livestock agencies. Most nutrition programmes have been based on multisectoral approaches to improve food security, nutritional practices, WASH facilities, behavioural change and communication strategies to address the underlying causes of undernutrition.³¹ In recent years the share of the government's budget allocated to the WASH sector has increased considerably, to NPR 44.2 billion in 2021/2022, up 1.3-fold from 2016/2017.³² In 2019 Nepal declared itself free of open defecation after a decade-long effort at various levels to make improved toilets accessible to every household.33

The most common deprivation profile in Nepal in 2019 is one where people are deprived in years of schooling, cooking fuel, housing and assets (figure 6). Nearly 1 in 10 poor people in the country experiences this profile. An integrated, high-impact policy response might include a housing package that considers energy concerns and home improvement grants, paired with targeted lifelong learning programmes among poor households.



Figure 6 The most common deprivation profiles among poor people in Nepal, 2019

Note: Includes the 23 profiles experienced by at least 1 percent of poor people in the country (out of 212 total profiles). **Source:** Authors' calculations based on Alkire, Nogales and Suppa (2022) and microdata underlying the Multidimensional Poverty Index computations in table 1 at the end of the report.

Galvanizing policy efforts to reduce interlinked deprivations

This report not only unveils the first analysis of the indepth deprivation profiles from data on millions of households; it also analyses the routes out of poverty that have successfully addressed poverty. The motivation to recognize success in the case studies is clear: given the COVID-19 pandemic and tight fiscal constraints faced worldwide, progress must surge ahead with extra determination and skill to reduce acute poverty. These examples show that reducing poverty is possible, and the profiled successes underscore that high-impact policies tend to step beyond institutional silos and address interlinked dimensions of poverty together.

Of the 81 countries with trend data, 72 significantly reduced their MPI value during at least one of the time

periods analysed, and 61 did so in the most recent period. Of these 72 countries, 68 significantly reduced deprivations among poor people in five or more indicators, with 46 reducing deprivations in eight or more. Some 66 countries reduced the MPI value in rural areas, and 63 countries reduced deprivations among poor people in rural areas in five or more indicators, with 43 reducing deprivations in eight or more and 22 reducing deprivations in all 10 MPI indicators. Some 49 countries significantly reduced the MPI value in urban areas, and 41 reduced deprivations among poor people in urban areas in five or more indicators, with 20 reducing deprivations in eight or more. This shows that reductions in multiple deprivations are possible in both rural and urban areas and can be emboldened through multisectoral policies and interventions, using evidence-based targeting of interlinkages.





Levels and trends from the 2022 global Multidimensional Poverty Index

This section presents updated results and trends from the 2022 global Multidimensional Poverty Index (MPI), covering 6.1 billion people across 111 developing countries. Some 1.2 billion people—19.1 percent of the population in those countries—live in multidimensionally poverty—referred to simply as "poverty" throughout this report.

Who are the 1.2 billion poor people, and where do they live?

- Half of poor people (593 million) are children under age 18. Nearly one in three children lives in poverty compared with one in seven adults. About 8.1 percent of poor people (nearly 94 million) are age 60 or older.
- For the first time since the global MPI was introduced, the number of poor people is highest in Sub-Saharan Africa (579 million), followed by South Asia (385 million). The two regions together are home to 83 percent of poor people. This new prominence of Sub-Saharan Africa in the global MPI is due in part to more recent data for South Asia (the population-weighted average is from 2019/2020 for South Asia and from 2017 for Sub-Saharan Africa) and in part to large reductions in India, the second most populous country in the world.³⁴ Moreover, for the first time since the global MPI was introduced, the number of poor people in Sub-Saharan Africa is larger than the combined number for South Asia and East Asia and the Pacific (494 million).
- Nearly 83 percent (964 million) of poor people live in rural areas, and 17 percent (198 million) live in urban areas.
- More than 66 percent of poor people live in middle-income countries, where the incidence of poverty ranges from 0.1 percent to 66.8 percent nationally and from 0.0 percent to 89.5 percent subnationally.
- Nearly half of poor people (518 million) live in severe poverty, meaning their deprivation score is 50 percent or higher.
- One in six poor people lives in a female-headed household.³⁵
- The number of poor people who experience deprivations in each indicator ranges from 146 million living in households that lost at least one child in the last five years to more than 1 billion living in households that cook with solid fuels (figure 7).

How well were countries reducing poverty before the COVID-19 pandemic?

- Of the 81 countries with trend data, covering roughly 5 billion people, 72 experienced a statistically significant reduction in absolute terms in MPI value during at least one period. Central African Republic and Guinea experienced an increase in MPI value between the two most recent surveys.³⁶
- Of the 20 countries that reduced their MPI value the fastest, 12 were in Sub-Saharan Africa, 3 were in South Asia, 3 were in East Asia and the Pacific and 2 were in Latin America and the Caribbean.³⁷
- Some 26 countries experienced a statistically significant reduction in deprivations in every indicator that is, the percentage of people who were poor and deprived declined in each indicator in at least one period.³⁸ Three of these countries (Plurinational State of Bolivia, Honduras and India) saw reductions in all indicators over two periods.
- In 40 countries—half of those covered—there was either no statistically significant reduction in poverty among children³⁹ or the MPI value fell more slowly among children than among adults during at least one period.⁴⁰ In Gambia, Guinea and Malawi both outcomes occurred. And Central African Republic experienced a statistically significant increase in MPI value among children between 2010 and 2018/2019.
- In 15 countries in Sub-Saharan Africa and 1 country in the Arab States the number of poor people increased during at least one period, despite a statistically significant decrease in the incidence of poverty, showing that population growth outpaced poverty reduction.⁴¹
- In some countries subnational regions that were initially among the poorest in their country reduced poverty faster in absolute terms than the national average, narrowing the poverty gap. These include both Lempira and Intibucá in Honduras (2011/12-2019), Bihar, Jharkhand and Uttar Pradesh in India (2015/2016-2019/2021), East and South in Rwanda (2014/2015-2019/2020) and Mekong River Delta in Viet Nam (2013/2014-2020/2021).

How has the COVID-19 pandemic affected multidimensional poverty?

The 2020 global MPI report noted that the COVID-19 pandemic could set back progress in poverty



Source: Table 1 at the end of the report.

reduction by 3-10 years.42 The analysis built on microsimulations informed by data on school closures and food security published by UN agencies in early 2020.43 Recent estimates suggest that the most pessimistic scenarios are plausible: updated data from the United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organization show that, on average, students across the globe lost half a year in schooling due to the pandemic-broadly consistent with the earlier simulation result that half of children stopped attending school during the first year of the pandemic.⁴⁴ Even where school attendance has swiftly rebounded, the learning process has still been negatively affected in many cases, and some children never went back to school.45 Furthermore, the most recent data on food insecurity from the World Food Programme suggest that the number of people living in food crisis or worse increased to 193 million in 2021.46

India: 415 million people exit poverty in 15 years, Multidimensional Poverty Index value and incidence of poverty more than halved

The reduction in Multidimensional Poverty Index (MPI) value in India was swift across the two most recent periods. MPI estimates based on the recently released 2019/2021 Demographic and Health Survey for the country show that 415 million people exited poverty between 2005/2006 and 2019/2021-including about 140 million since 2015/2016-and that the country's MPI value and incidence of poverty were both more than halved (see table 2 at the end of this report). The MPI value fell from 0.283 in 2005/2006 to 0.122 in 2015/2016 to 0.069 in 2019/2021, and the incidence of poverty fell from 55.1 percent to 27.7 percent to 16.4 percent. Sustainable Development Goal target 1.2 is to reduce at least by half the proportion of men, women and children of all ages living in poverty in all its dimensions according to national definitions by 2030, and India's progress shows that this goal is feasible, even at a large scale.

The effects of the COVID-19 pandemic on poverty India cannot be fully assessed because 71 percent of the data from the 2019/2021 Demographic and Health Survey for the country were collected before the pandemic. But the results are striking, showing a significant reduction in all 10 MPI deprivations among poor people. Still, major challenges remain. The rest of this section presents the latest poverty estimates and trends in poverty reduction, analyses deprivation bundles and briefly reviews the country's poverty reduction policies.

The latest poverty estimates

The 2019/2021 data show that about 16.4 percent of India's population live in poverty, with an average intensity of 42.0 percent. About 4.2 percent of the population live in severe poverty (meaning their deprivation score is 50 percent or higher).⁴⁷ About 18.7 percent of people, roughly the same proportion as in 2015/2016, are vulnerable to poverty because their deprivation score ranges from 20 percent to 33 percent. Two-thirds of these people live in a household in which at least one person is deprived in nutrition—a worrying statistic. Based on 2020 population data for India, it has by far the largest number of poor people worldwide (228.9 million), followed by Nigeria (96.7 million projected in 2020).

Rural disparities are stark. The percentage of people who are poor is 21.2 percent in rural areas compared with 5.5 percent in urban areas. Rural areas account for nearly 90 percent of poor people: 205 million of the nearly 229 million poor people live in rural areas —making them a clear priority. Only 23 countries covered have a higher proportion of poor people living in rural areas.⁴⁸

Among poor people, deprivations in cooking fuel and housing are the most common, followed by nutrition and sanitation. Because deprivations in nutrition have a larger weight (1/6 instead of 1/18), they contribute by far the most to MPI value—nearly as much as cooking fuel, housing and sanitation combined. Despite progress, India's population remains vulnerable to the mounting effects of the COVID-19 pandemic and to rising food and energy prices. Integrated policies tackling the ongoing nutritional and energy crises should be a priority.

Children are still the poorest age group. More than one in five children are poor (21.8 percent) compared with around one in seven adults (13.9 percent). This translates to 97 million poor children.

India is the only country in South Asia in which poverty is significantly more prevalent among female-headed households than among male-headed households. About 19.7 percent of people living in female-headed households live in poverty compared with 15.9 percent in male-headed households. One in seven households is a female-headed household, so around 39 million poor people live in a household headed by a woman. In Mali, where a similar proportion of households are female-headed, there is no statistically significant difference in poverty rates between male- and female-headed households.

Trends in poverty reduction

Of the nearly 415 million people who exited poverty in the 15 years prior to the COVID-19 pandemic, roughly 275 million did so between 2005/2006 and 2015/2016⁴⁹ and 140 million did so between 2015/2016 and 2019/2021. Deprivations in all 10 MPI indicators saw statistically significant reductions in both periods.

India's reduction in MPI value continued to be propoor in absolute terms, as it was from 2005/2006 to 2015/2016. Rural areas were the poorest and saw the fastest reduction in MPI value. The incidence of poverty fell from 36.6 percent in 2015/2016 to 21.2 percent in 2019/2021 in rural areas and from 9.0 percent to 5.5 percent in urban areas. Children, the poorest age group, saw the fastest reduction in MPI value. The incidence of poverty fell from 34.7 percent to 21.8 percent among children and from 24.0 percent to 13.9 percent among adults. Similarly, the poorest caste and religious groups saw the fastest absolute reduction in the recent period.⁵⁰ This general pattern continues across the states and union territories (figure 8). Bihar, the poorest state in 2015/2016, saw the fastest reduction in MPI value in absolute terms. The incidence of poverty there fell from 77.4 percent in 2005/2006 to 52.4 percent in 2015/2016 to 34.7 percent in 2019/2021.

It is also essential to scrutinize changes using the relative reduction in poverty—the percentage of the distance to zero poverty covered. Nationally, the relative reduction from 2015/2016 to 2019/21 was faster: 11.9 percent a year compared with 8.1 percent from 2005/2006 to 2015/2016. This is unsurprising because relative poverty reduction is easier to achieve when starting levels of poverty are lower. In relative terms adults covered more distance to zero poverty than children did. Across states and union territories the fastest reduction in relative terms was in Goa,



Figure 8 The poorest states in India saw the fastest absolute reduction in Multidimensional Poverty Index (MPI) value from 2015/2016 to 2019/2021

Note: The size of the bubble is proportional to the number of poor people in 2015/2016. **Source:** Alkire, Kanagaratnam and Suppa 2022c.

followed by Jammu and Kashmir, Andhra Pradesh, Chhattisgarh and Rajasthan. In relative terms the poorest states have not caught up. Of the 10 poorest states in 2015/2016, only one (West Bengal) was not among the 10 poorest in 2019/2021. The rest— Bihar, Jharkhand, Meghalaya, Madhya Pradesh, Uttar Pradesh, Assam, Odisha, Chhattisgarh and Rajasthan —remain among the 10 poorest.

Deprivations in sanitation, cooking fuel and housing fell the most from 2015/2016 to 2019/2021. The share of the population who were poor and deprived in sanitation dropped from 24.4 percent in 2015/2016 to 11.3 percent in 2019/2021. The share of the population who were poor and cooked primarily with wood, dung, charcoal or another solid fuel was nearly halved—from 26.0 percent in 2015/2016 to 13.9 percent in 2019/2021—accompanied by a large reduction in the share of the population who were poor and deprived in electricity—from 8.6 percent to 2.1 percent.

Deprivation bundles

The most common deprivation profile in India is the same as the most common profile across 111 developing countries: one where people are deprived in nutrition, cooking fuel, sanitation and housing (figure 9). An integrated policy response might include a housing, sanitation and cooking fuel package (nearly 125 million Indians experience deprivation profiles that include those three deprivations) that also ensures households benefit from subsidized food, early childcare centres and midday cooked meals for school children.

Looking at interlinked deprivations subnationally can also be useful. Recall that 90 percent of India's poor people live in rural areas and 10 percent in urban areas, and take school attendance as an example: 1.9 percent of people (8.2 million) in urban areas are poor and living with an out-of-school child compared with 4.8 percent (46.3 million) in rural areas. Who are they? In rural areas 82.4 percent of poor people who are deprived in



Figure 9 The most common deprivation profiles among poor people in India, 2019/2021

Note: Includes the 17 profiles experienced by at least 1 percent of poor people in the country (out of 652 total profiles). **Source:** Authors' calculations based on Alkire, Nogales and Suppa (2022) and microdata underlying the Multidimensional Poverty Index computations in table 1 at the end of the report.

school attendance live in households that are also deprived in housing, and 84.7 percent live in households that are also deprived in cooking fuel, whereas in urban areas the percentages are 45.4 percent and 41.6 percent (figure 10). In both rural and urban areas nutritional deprivation is rampant, with around 60 percent of people experiencing it. Schooling programmes such as the midday cooked meals scheme address some interlinked deprivations affecting out-of-school children while also supporting their educational attainment.

Poverty reduction policies

The pace and patterns of MPI reduction in India vary across states and union territories. While additional analysis is needed to clarify the drivers of change in each context, it is clear that multiple policy actions and schemes underpin these results. There have been visible investments in boosting access to sanitation, cooking fuel and electricity—indicators that have seen large improvements. A policy emphasis on universal coverage—for example, in education, nutrition, water, sanitation, employment and housing—likely contributed to these results. But questions remain as to how spending patterns, performance incentives, institutions, nonstate actions, integrated policy packages and local dynamics in each setting drove change. Such studies will benefit many countries seeking to swiftly and massively reduce acute poverty.

India is an important case study for the Sustainable Development Goals, the first of which is to end poverty in all its forms and to reduce at least by half the proportion of men, women and children of all ages living



Source: Authors' calculations based on Alkire, Nogales and Suppa (2022) and microdata underlying the Multidimensional Poverty Index computations in table 1 at the end of the report.

in poverty in all its dimensions according to national definitions by 2030, all while leaving no one behind. In roughly 15 years, from 2005/06 to 2019/21, the MPI value, the incidence of poverty and deprivations among poor people in the 10 MPI indicators were each more than halved. In terms of leaving no one behind, the poorest groups—states, rural areas and children—saw the fastest progress in absolute terms, although the data do not reflect post-COVID-19 pandemic changes.

Despite tremendous gains, the ongoing task of ending poverty for the 228.9 million poor people in 2019/2021 is daunting—especially as the number has nearly certainly risen since the data were collected. There were still 97 million poor children in India in 2019/21—more than the total number of poor people, children and adults combined, in any other country covered by the global MPI. Yet, these multipronged policy approaches show that integrated interventions can improve the lives of millions of people.

Call to action: The data revolution risks leaving poverty data behind

To end poverty efficiently and using evidence-based policies, it must be measured regularly. The COVID-19 pandemic made it clearer than ever that data are tied to people's visibility, survival and care⁵¹ and that good data and responsible data governance are essential for evidence-based policymaking. Good data collection requires granularity, regularity, comparability and transparency. With good data, policymakers can identify

emerging policy concerns, inform programme design and policy choices, forecast trends, monitor policy delivery and evaluate programme impact. The irregularity of multitopic household surveys—the main tools of poverty measurement and analysis—hinders the power and potential of the global MPI. Now, at a time when the risk of postpandemic backslides into poverty is the highest in decades, it is time to emphatically raise the alarm on missing data for measuring poverty.

Where are we now?

After the launch of the Sustainable Development Goals in 2015, the High Level Panel on the Post-2015 Development Agenda called for a data revolution⁵² —transformative actions needed to improve data production, collection, usability, diversity and literacy—but did not include improving household surveys among its recommendations. The World Bank's 2021 World Development Report stresses the need for poverty surveys.⁵³ However, the 2017 Atkinson Report of the Commission on Global Poverty highlighted several issues around quality and coverage of data to measure both multidimensional and monetary poverty that remain unaddressed:

- The country (or territory) not having a regular household survey.
- The survey not being publicly available.
- The survey coverage itself being incomplete.
- Groups being systematically excluded from the sample design.⁵⁴

Furthermore, the need to advance household surveys was also profiled at the first UN World Data Forum in Cape Town, South Africa—the global stage for innovation, partnerships and debate around the development data ecosystem.⁵⁵

Global MPI country data suggest that the data revolution's progress may have bypassed household surveys, despite their being more reliable than phone surveys trialled during the COVID-19 pandemic or private data. The global MPI relies on publicly available household survey datasets that are comparable for developing countries. The two most widely used surveys are Demographic and Health Surveys (DHS) and Multiple Indicators Cluster Surveys (MICS). The US Agency for International Development and the United Nations Children's Fund—in partnership with national statistics offices—produce high-quality data on multiple topics from these surveys, with national and subnational representativeness, without which there would be no global MPI.

A key issue for monitoring poverty is data irregularity. More frequent data are needed to track progress, evaluate policies and ultimately get the information needed to accelerate poverty reduction.

The methodological decision to exclude countries from the global MPI with survey data from before 2010 also means that some countries, such as Djibouti, Somalia and Syrian Arab Republic, are not included in the global MPI estimates.⁵⁶ Consistent financing of surveys is needed that can generate comparable, high-quality estimates on poverty and its disaggregation.

Peru provides another practical example of the difficulties in monitoring poverty after the COVID-19 pandemic. Peru replaced the Standard DHS, conducted at the typical five-year interval, with the Continuous DHS, with data collected and reported annually by a permanent office integrated within the national statistical office.⁵⁷ The most recent year with data was 2020. Due to the countrywide lockdown, a substantial proportion of households and people were not reached in person during data collection. The nutrition indicator thus included a large proportion of missing values (about 30 percent of eligible women and children), which generated doubts around the accuracy of the estimates. So the 2020 survey could not be used to calculate the country's global MPI value for 2022. It is hoped that the 2021 survey will include the data needed to measure the pandemic's impact on poverty in the country.

Where do we need to go?

Three key strategies can transform the poverty data landscape:

- Committing funding to ensure the continuation and greater frequency of multitopic household surveys that can be used to estimate multidimensional poverty.
- Supporting capacity building for national statistics offices to gather high-quality poverty data with extensive disaggregation and to cover left-behind groups.
- Including new modules to address missing data on vital topics for poverty, such as work (including informal work), physical insecurity and household health.

The number of DHS and MICS conducted annually has not increased since 2015, despite the post-2015 call for a data revolution (figure 11).⁵⁸ Funding should include statistical-capacity training for national statistics offices to empower countries to track their progress in reducing poverty and achieving other Sustainable Development Goals.

Due to limited funding, DHS and MICS also tend to exclude various important topics that poor people themselves identify when asked about their lives. Integrating new modules into household surveys would go a long way to capturing human development and the lived reality of poverty. These include gendered questions on the quality of work (on informal and formal employment and care work, fair treatment and safety hazards), empowerment (on control, coercion and desires in public and private domains), physical safety (on freedom from violence, crime and conflict) and social connection (on shame, humiliation, loneliness and isolation). These need be only short, 8-10 minute modules that can be integrated into national household surveys.⁵⁹ Similarly, if and when feasible, the global MPI indicators would benefit from improvements to specifications. Information is lacking on ventilation for cooking fuel and service interruption for electricity and water access. School attendance can be measured but not quality of education. Roughly half of countries have anthropometric nutrition data only for children under age 5. Questions that yield data on these topics in household surveys would empower the global MPI as a measurement and policy tool.





Note: Demographic and Health Surveys (DHS) include only Standard DHS and Continuous DHS only. Multiple Indicator Cluster Surveys (MICS) include all rounds, including individual district surveys or settlement or subgroup population surveys. For all DHS and MICS that spanned more than one year, the survey was recorded for the last year—for example, the 2019–2020 Rwanda DHS was counted in 2020. Results for 2020 and 2021 are incomplete, as some surveys are still being processed and have not released final numbers. The figure includes only surveys that have been completed, that were national or country surveys (with two exceptions) and that have a final report or were included in global Multidimensional Poverty Index computations. The exceptions related to national or country surveys are that the 1999 Sudan (South) MICS was included because it now reflects South Sudan, and the 1999 Nigeria DHS was excluded because the DHS Program noted that it "cannot stand behind the quality of this survey." **Source:** Author's compilation from http://dhsprogram.org and http://mics.unicef.org (accessed 26 September 2022).

On a positive note, DHS and MICS have introduced modules on physical or development disabilities, and some surveys ask respondents about their ethnicity or the ethnicity of the household head. The character of these surveys reveals the most about people of reproductive age and children under age 5 and less about older children, adolescents and older adults.⁶⁰ One survey cannot do everything, but deepening these treasured data sources, where feasible, could have a huge impact—including by permitting the development of a measure of moderate poverty that could better capture deprivations in less-impoverished areas.

At present, the data used to estimate acute poverty for the 50 million poor people in the three poorest countries were collected in 2010 or 2012. Yet data on billionaires are updated every hour⁶¹—a jarring data inequality. The data revolution should not leave household data on poverty behind.

Notes and references

Notes

1 UNDP 2022a, 2022b.

2 In September 2022 the World Bank released the latest update on people in extreme monetary poverty (World Bank 2022a): 668 million using the \$1.90 a day in 2011 purchasing power parity (PPP) terms poverty line and 648 million using the new \$2.15 a day in 2017 PPP terms poverty line. These figures are for 2019. Most surveys considered for this report on multidimensional poverty collected data during 2016–2019.

3 UNDP 2020.

- 4 See https://www.forbes.com/real-time-billionaires.
- 5 UNDP and OPHI 2020.
- 6 This is explained in part by India's large population.
- 7 Another way to articulate interlinkages and common deprivation bundles among poor people is to use latent class analysis (a statistical procedure for classifying individual observations into mutually exclusive and exhaustive types) in order to observe patterns of association between deprivations. While these are more complex to interpret, they corroborate profiles already noted (such as the most common bundle) and reveal new core bundles (Alkire, Nogales and Suppa 2022).
- 9 As with the most common profile, the deprivations in this profile (with six indicators) also sum to a deprivation score of just ¼, so eliminating one deprivation would bring people with this profile out of poverty.
- 10 For detail on electricity deprivation and its interlinkages with the global MPI, see OPHI and Rockefeller Foundation (2021).
- 11 World Bank 2022a.
- 12 Cozzi and others 2020.
- 13 UNDP Ethiopia 2022.
- 14 World Bank 2020a.
- 15 UNDP Ethiopia 2018.
- 16 World Bank 2022a.
- 17 World Bank 2021a.
- 18 Abay and others 2021.
- 19 UNDP Ethiopia 2022.
- 20 Government of Ethiopia 2019.

- 21 Government of Ethiopia 2019.
- 22 World Bank 2020b.
- 23 Government of the Lao People's Democratic Republic 2018.
- 24 Biswas and Das 2022; Gould and Urpelainen 2019.
- 25 Bekele, Rawstorne and Rahman 2020; Fewtrell and others 2005.
- 26 Perin and others 2022.
- 27 Bekele, Rawstorne and Rahman (2020).
- 28 WHO 2020.
- 29 Government of Nepal 2012.
- 30 Government of Nepal 2017.
- 31 USAID 2013.
- 32 WaterAid 2022.
- 33 UNSDG 2019.
- 34 To be precise, if the survey year is weighted by the number of poor people, the average survey year is 2019 for South Asia and 2016/2017 for Sub-Saharan Africa; if weighted by population, the average is 2019/2020 for South Asia and 2017 for Sub-Saharan Africa.
- 35 China is excluded from the analysis by gender of household head because that information was not collected (Alkire, Kanagaratnam and Suppa 2022b).
- 36 All changes refer to absolute reductions (the simple difference in poverty levels between two periods) that are significant at the p < .05 level.
- 37 The 20 fastest countries are Bangladesh, Plurinational State of Bolivia, Cambodia, Congo, Côte d'Ivoire, Ethiopia, Gambia, Guinea, India, Lao People's Democratic Republic, Liberia, Malawi, Mali, Mozambique, Nepal, Nicaragua, Sao Tome and Principe, Sierra Leone, Timor-Leste and Togo.
- 38 The 26 countries are Bangladesh, Plurinational State of Bolivia, Ecuador, Kingdom of Eswatini, Ethiopia, Gabon, Guinea, Honduras, India, Indonesia, Iraq, Kenya, Lao People's Democratic Republic, Lesotho, Malawi, Mongolia, Morocco, Mozambique, Nicaragua, Niger, Sao Tome and Principe, Sierra Leone, Timor-Leste, Togo, Viet Nam and Zambia.
- 39 This occurred in 23 countries: Armenia, Benin, Burkina Faso, Cameroon, Gambia, Guinea, Guinea-Bissau, Guyana, Jordan, Mauritania, Mexico, Republic of Moldova, Montenegro, North Macedonia, Peru, State of Palestine, Senegal, Serbia, Suriname, Thailand, Togo, Turkmenistan and Ukraine.

- 40 This occurred in 19 countries: Central African Republic, Colombia, Democratic Republic of the Congo, Cote d'Ivoire, Dominican Republic, Ethiopia, Gabon, Gambia, Ghana, Guinea, Madagascar, Malawi, Mali, Mozambique, Niger, Rwanda, Sierra Leone, United Republic of Tanzania and Uganda.
- 41 The Sub-Saharan African countries are Burundi, Central African Republic, Democratic Republic of the Congo, Ethiopia, Gambia, Madagascar, Malawi, Mali, Mauritania, Mozambique, Niger, Nigeria, Senegal, United Republic of Tanzania and Zambia, and the Arab States country is Sudan.
- 42 See Alkire and others (2021) for the underlying analysis.
- 43 See https://covid19.uis.unesco.org/globalmonitoring-school-closures-covid19/ for school attendance data and https://www.wfp.org/ publications/global-report-food-crises-2022 for data on food insecurity.
- 44 Patrinos, Vegas and Carter-Rau 2022.
- 45 See, for example, Chatterji and Li (2021) and Zulaika and others (2022).
- 46 The World Food Programme (WFP 2021) reported 135 million people in food crisis or worse in 2020.
- 47 Using a destitution measure that has precisely the same structure as the global MPI but applies extreme deprivation cutoffs for each indicator (Alkire, Kanagaratnam, and Suppa 2020) shows that 5.2 percent of poor people, nearly one-third of all poor people, are destitute.
- 48 The 23 countries are Afghanistan, Armenia, Belize, Bhutan, Plurinational State of Bolivia, Burundi, Cambodia, Kingdom of Eswatini, Kyrgyzstan, Lao People's Democratic Republic, Lesotho, Malawi, Mali, Myanmar, Nicaragua, Niger, Papua New Guinea, Rwanda, Serbia, Sri Lanka, Tonga, Uganda and Zimbabwe.
- 49 The 2018 and 2019 editions of this report estimated that more than 270 million exited poverty from 2005/2006 to 2015/2016. This value was based on population estimates from the 2017 revision of the United Nations Department of Economic and Social Affairs' *World Population Prospects* (UNDESA 2017). The higher value presented here (275 million) is based on updated population estimates from the 2022 revision of *World Population Prospects* (UNDESA 2022).
- 50 See Alkire, Oldiges and Kanagaratnam (2022) and UNDP and OPHI (2021).
- 51 Milan and Treré 2020.
- 52 UN Data Revolution 2022.

53 World Bank 2021b.

54 World Bank 2017. Excluded population groups may include people experiencing homelessness (adults and children), institutionalized individuals (those in care homes, hospitals, prison, school dormitories, military compounds and refugee camps), nomadic and pastoralist groups, difficult-to-reach groups (people living in fragile or disjointed households, urban informal settlements and insecure or isolated areas), people who are stateless or in transit between states, people who live with disabilities, and lesbian, gay, bisexual, transgender, queer and other sexual and gender minority populations. See also Carr-Hill (2013).

- 55 See objective 3.1 of the Cape Town Global Action Plan: Strengthen and expand household survey programmes (Global Data Forum 2021).
- 56 The latest data for Djibouti and Somalia are from their respective 2006 Multiple Indicator Cluster Surveys, and the latest data for Syrian

Arab Republic are from the 2009 Pan Arab Project for Family Health survey.

- 57 Rutstein and Way 2014.
- 58 Croft and others 2018.
- 59 See https://ophi.org.uk/research/missingdimensions/survey-modules for sample modules.
- 60 Data2x 2020.
- 61 See https://www.forbes.com/real-time-billionaires.

References

Abay, K.A., Berhane, G., Hoddinott, J., and Tafere, K. 2021. "COVID-19 and Food Security in Ethiopia: Do Social Protection Programs Protect?" *Economic and Cultural Development*. https://www.journals.uchicago.edu/doi /pdf/10.1086/715831?casa_token=7SwRthINfVIAAAAA: HY9sQNKdBRvIFbRpvkVhVd1nLpHhUKiVFacWsvN0dq BcRJhmB3PCOrhEGByATxBOR-bCt43g5Q. Accessed 20 July 2022.

Alkire, S., Kanagaratnam, U., and Suppa, N. 2020. "The Global Multidimensional Poverty Index (MPI) 2020." OPHI MPI Methodological Note 49, Oxford Poverty and Human Development Initiative, University of Oxford, Oxford, UK.

Alkire, S., Kanagaratnam, U., and Suppa, N. 2022a. "The Global Multidimensional Poverty Index (MPI) 2022 Country Results and Methodological Note." OPHI MPI Methodological Note 52, Oxford Poverty and Human Development Initiative, University of Oxford, Oxford, UK.

Alkire, S., Kanagaratnam, U., and Suppa, N. 2022b. "The Global Multidimensional Poverty Index (MPI) 2022 Disaggregation Results and Methodological Note." OPHI MPI Methodological Note 53, Oxford Poverty and Human Development Initiative, University of Oxford, Oxford, UK.

Alkire, S., Kanagaratnam, U., and Suppa, N. 2022c. "A Methodological Note on the Global Multidimensional Poverty Index (MPI) 2022 Changes over Time Results for 84 Countries." OPHI MPI Methodological Note 54, Oxford Poverty and Human Development Initiative, University of Oxford, Oxford, UK.

Alkire, S., Nogales, R., Quinn, N.N., and Suppa, N. 2021. "Global Multidimensional Poverty and COVID-19: A Decade of Progress at Risk?" *Social Science & Medicine* 291: 114457.

Alkire, S., Nogales, R., and Suppa, N. 2022. "The Many Forms of Poverty: Analyses of Deprivation Interlinkages in the Developing World." OPHI Research in Progress 63a, University of Oxford, Oxford, UK.

Alkire, S., Oldiges, C., and Kanagaratnam, U. 2022. "Is India on Track to Eradicate Poverty?" OPHI Research Paper 64, University of Oxford, Oxford, UK.

Bekele, T., Rawstorne, P., and Rahman, B. 2020. "Effect of Water, Sanitation and Hygiene Interventions Alone and Combined with Nutrition on Child Growth in Low- and Middle-Income Countries: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis." *BMJ Open* 10(7): e034812.

Biswas, S., and Das, U. 2022. "Adding Fuel to Human Capital: Exploring the Educational Effects of Cooking Fuel Choice from Rural India." *Energy Economics* 105: 105744. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.eneco.2021.105744.

Carr-Hill, R. 2013. "Missing Millions and Measuring Development Progress." *World Development* 46: 30–44. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.worlddev.2012.12.017. Chatterji, P., and Li, Y. 2021. "Effects of COVID-19 on School Enrollment." *Economics of Education Review* 83; 102128.

Cozzi, L., Contejean, A., Samantar, J., Dasgupta, A., Rouget., A., and Arboleya., A. 2020. "The Covid-19 Crisis Is Reversing Progress on Energy Access in Africa." International Energy Agency. https://policy commons.net/artifacts/1427539/the-covid-19-crisis -is-reversing-progress-on-energy-access-in-africa /2042290/. Accessed 20 July 2022.

Croft, T.N., Marshall, A.M. J., Allen, C.K., and others. 2018. *Guide to DHS Statistics*. Rockville, MD: ICF.

Data2x. 2020. "Mapping Gender Data Gaps: An SDG Era Update." https://data2x.org/resource-center/mappinggenderdatagaps/. Accessed 5 October 2022.

Fewtrell, L., Kaufmann, R.B., Kay, D., Enanoria, W., Haller, L., and Colford, Jr., J.M. 2005. "Water, Sanitation, and Hygiene Interventions to Reduce Diarrhoea in Less Developed Countries: a Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis." *The Lancet Infectious Diseases* 5(1): 42–52.

Global Data Forum. 2021. "Positioning Household Surveys for the Next Decade." Side event at the 52nd Session of the United Nations Statistical Commission, 1–3 and 5 March. https://unstats.un.org/unsd/statcom/52nd-session/side-events/20210219-1M-positioning-household -surveys-for-the-next-decade. Accessed 20 July 2022.

Gould, C., and Urpelainen, J. 2019. "The Role of Education and Attitudes in Cooking Fuel Choice: Evidence From Two States in India." *Energy for Sustainable Development* 54: 36–50. https://ssrn.com/abstract=3490772.

Government of Ethiopia. 2019. "Multi-sectoral Woreda Transformation: the 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development of Ethiopia." Addis Ababa. https://www.moh.gov.et/site/sites/default/files/2021-09 /Multisectoral%20Woreda%20Transformation%20%28 MSWT%29%20.pdf.

Government of Lao People's Democratic Republic. 2018. "Lao People's Democratic Republic: Voluntary National Review on the Implementation of the 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development." Vientiane. https:// sustainabledevelopment.un.org/content/documents /19385Lao_Final_VNR_19_June_2018_web.pdf.

Government of Nepal. 2012. "National Planning Commission: Multi-sector Nutrition Plan for Accelerating the Reduction of Maternal and Child Under-Nutrition in Nepal 2013–2017 (2023)." Kathmandu. https://scalingup nutrition.org/wp-content/uploads/2013/03/Nepal_ MSNP_2013-2017.pdf.

Government of Nepal. 2017. "National Planning Commission. Multi-Sector Nutrition Plan: 2018–2022." Kathmandu. http://extwprlegs1.fao.org/docs/pdf/nep184979.pdf. Milan, S., and Treré, E. 2020. "The Rise of the Data Poor: The COVID-19 Pandemic Seen from the Margins." *Social Media + Society* 6(3). https://doi.org/10.1177 /2056305120948233.

OPHI (Oxford Poverty and Human Development Initiative) and Rockefeller Foundation. 2021. Interlinkages between Multidimensional Poverty and Electricity: A Study Using the global Multidimensional Poverty Index (MPI). New York: Rockefeller Foundation.

Patrinos, H.A., Vegas, E., and Carter-Rau, R. 2022. "An Analysis of COVID-19 Student Learning Loss." Policy Research Working Paper 10033, World Bank, Washington, DC.

Perin, J., Mulick A., Yeung, D., Villavicencio, F., Lopez, G., Strong, K.L., Prieto-Merino, D., and others. 2022. "Global, Regional, and National Causes of under-5 Mortality in 2000–19: An Updated Systematic Analysis with Implications for the Sustainable Development Goals." *The Lancet Child & Adolescent Health* 6(2): 106–115.

Rutstein, S.O., and Way, A. 2014. "The Peru Continuous DHS Experience." DHS Occasional Paper 8, ICF International, Rockville, MD.

UN Data Revolution. 2022. "What Is the 'Data Revolution'?" https://www.undatarevolution.org/data-revolution/. Accessed 20 July 2022.

UNDESA (United Nations Department of Economic and Social Affairs). 2017. World Population Prospects: The 2017 Revision. New York.

UNDESA (United Nations Department of Economic and Social Affairs). 2022. World Population Prospects: The 2022 Revision. New York.

UNDP (United Nations Development Programme). 2020. "Groundbreaking Data Tackles Child Malnutrition in Honduras." https://sdgintegration.undp .org/groundbreaking-data-tackles-child-malnutrition -honduras. Accessed 19 July 2022.

UNDP (United Nations Development Programme). 2022a. 2022 Special Report on Human Security: New Threats to Human Security in the Anthropocene: Demanding Greater Solidarity. New York. https://hdr.undp.org/content/2022-special-report -human-security.

UNDP (United Nations Development Programme). 2022b. Human Development Report 2022: Uncertain Times, Unsettled Lives: Shaping our Future in a Transforming World. New York. https://hdr.undp.org/content/ human-development-report-2021-22.

UNDP (United Nations Development Programme) Ethiopia. 2018. "Ethiopia's Progress towards Eradicating Poverty." Paper presented at the Inter-Agency Group Meeting on the Implementation of the Third United Nations Decade for the Eradication of Poverty (2018–2027), 18–20 April, Addis Ababa. https:// www.un.org/development/desa/dspd/wp-content /uploads/sites/22/2018/04/Ethiopia%E2%80%99s -Progress-Towards-Eradicating-Poverty.pdf.

UNDP (United Nations Development Programme) Ethiopia. 2022. "Crisis, Resilience and Opportunity: Poverty, Human Development, and the Macro-Economy in Ethiopia 2020–2023." Ethiopia Working Paper Series, Addis Ababa.

UNDP (United Nations Development Programme) and OPHI (Oxford Poverty and Human Development Initiative). 2020. Global Multidimensional Poverty Index 2020: Charting Pathways out of Multidimensional Poverty: Achieving the SDGs. New York.

UNDP (United Nations Development Programme) and OPHI (Oxford Poverty and Human Development Initiative). 2021. Global Multidimensional Poverty Index 2021: Unmasking Disparities by Ethnicity, Caste and Gender. New York.

UNSDG (United Nations Sustainable Development Group). 2019. "Nepal Declared Free from Open Defecation." https://unsdg.un.org/latest/stories/nepal-declared -free-from-open-defecation. Accessed 15 July 2022.

USAID (United States Agency for International Development). 2013. "SUAAHARA Project II - Good Nutrition." https://2012-2017.usaid.gov/nepal/fact-sheets/suaahara -project-good-nutrition. Accessed 23 June 2022.

WaterAid. 2022. "WASH Financing in Nepal 2021/22." https://washmatters.wateraid.org/sites/g/files/jkxoof256 /files/2022-03/WASH%20Financing%20factsheet_ 2021-22_0.pdf.

WHO (World Health Organization). 2020. "Children: Improving survival and well-being." https://www.who .int/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/childrenz-reducing -mortality. Accessed 22 June 2022.

World Bank. 2017. Monitoring Global Poverty: Report of the Commission on Global Poverty. Washington, DC. https://openknowledge.worldbank.org/bitstream/handle/ 10986/25141/9781464809613.pdf.

World Bank. 2020a. "Ethiopia Has Made Major Strides in Poverty Reduction but Disparities, Inequality Remain." Press Release, 16 April. https://www.worldbank.org/en/ news/press-release/2020/04/16/ethiopia-has-made -major-strides-in-poverty-reduction-but-disparities -inequality-remain. Accessed 20 July 2022.

World Bank. 2020b. Lao People's Democratic Republic Poverty Assessment 2020 : Catching Up and Falling Behind. Washington, DC. https://openknowledge .worldbank.org/bitstream/handle/10986/34528/Lao -People-s-Democratic-Republic-Poverty-Assessment -2020-Catching-Up-and-Falling-Behind.pdf. World Bank. 2021a. "Towards an Inclusive and Empowered Ethiopia: Improving Social Safety Nets to Reduce Urban Poverty." Results Briefs, 14 January. https://www .worldbank.org/en/results/2021/01/14/towards-an-inclusive-and-empowered-ethiopia-improving-social-safety -nets-to-reduce-urban-poverty. Accessed 20 July 2022.

World Bank. 2021b. World Development Report 2021: Data for Better Lives. Washington, DC. https:// www.worldbank.org/en/publication/wdr2021.

World Bank. 2022a. "Poverty and Inequality Platform." https://pip.worldbank.org/home. Accessed 2 October 2022.

World Bank. 2022b. "Disclosable Version of the ISR - Ethiopia Rural Productive Safety Net Project – P163438 – Sequence No : 09 (English)." Washington, DC. https://documents1.worldbank.org/curated /en/099120106212226211/pdf/P1634380a0c57d03708 e750227a4d859458.pdf.

WFP (World Food Programme). 2021. Global Report on Food Crises: Joint Analysis for Better Decisions. Rome. https://docs.wfp.org/api/documents/WFP -0000127343/download/.

Zulaika, G., Bulbarelli, M., Nyothach, E., van Eijk, A., Mason, L., Fwaya, E., Obor, D., and others. 2022. "Impact of COVID-19 Lockdowns on Adolescent Pregnancy and School Dropout among Secondary Schoolgirls in Kenya." *BMJ Global Health* 7(1): p.e007666.

Statistical tables

Multidimensional Poverty Index: developing countries

			SDG 1.2							0.1.1			SDG 1.2	SDG 1.1
				Po	pulation in m	ultidimensional	l povertvª			in dir	oution of dep mension to c imensional p	verall	Population living below monetary poverty line (%)	
	Multidime Poverty I			Headcount			Inequality	Population in severe	Population vulnerable to				National	<u> </u>
	Year and survey⁵			(thou	isands)	Intensity of deprivation	among the poor	multidimensional poverty	multidimensional povertyª	Health	Education	Standard of living	poverty line	PPP \$1.90 a day
Country	2010-2021	Value	(%)	year	2020	(%)	Value	(%)	(%)	(%)	(%)	(%)	2009-2020°	2009-2021 ^c
Estimates based on surveys for 2016–202 Afghanistan	1 2015/2016 D	0.272 ^d	55.9 ^d	19,365 ^d	21,789 ^d	48.6 ^d	0.020 ^d	24.9 ^d	18.1 ^d	10.0 ^d	45.0 ^d	45.0 ^d	54.5	
Albania	2013/2018 D	0.003	0.7	20	21,109	39.1	0.020 ^e	0.1	5.0	28.3	55.1	45.0	21.8	0.0
Algeria	2018/2019 M	0.005	1.4	590	600	39.2	0.007	0.2	3.6	31.2	49.3	19.5	5.5	0.4
Angola	2015/2016 D	0.282	51.1	14,899	17,083	55.3	0.024	32.5	15.5	21.2	32.1	46.8	32.3	49.9
Argentina	2019/2020 M ^r	0.001g	0.4 ^g	195 g	195 ^g	34.0 g	^e	0.0 ^g	1.6 ^g	69.7 ^g	21.4 g	8.9 ^g	42.0	1.6
Armenia	2015/2016 D	0.001 ^h	0.2 h	5 ^h	5 ^h	36.2 h	^e	0.0 ^h	2.8 ^h	33.1 ^h	36.8 ^h	30.1 ^h	27.0	0.4
Bangladesh	2019 M	0.104	24.6	40,784	41,253	42.2	0.010	6.5	18.2	17.3	37.6	45.1	24.3	14.3
Belize	2015/2016 M	0.017	4.3	16	17	39.8	0.007	0.6	8.4	39.5	20.9	39.6		
Benin Belivia (Divrinational State of)	2017/2018 D	0.368	66.8	7,976	8,445	55.0	0.025	40.9	14.7	20.8	36.3	42.9	38.5	19.2
Bolivia (Plurinational State of) Botswana	2016 N 2015/2016 N	0.038 0.073 ⁱ	9.1 17.2 ⁱ	1,020 405 ⁱ	1,081 438 ⁱ	41.7 42.2	0.008 0.008 ⁱ	1.9 3.5 ⁱ	12.1 19.7	18.7 30.3 ⁱ	31.5 16.5 ⁱ	49.8 53.2 ⁱ	39.0 19.3	4.4 14.5
Burundi	2015/2010 N 2016/2017 D	0.409 ^h	75.1 ^h	8,378 h	9,177 h	54.4 ^h	0.000 h	46.1 ^h	15.8 ^h	23.8 h	27.2 h	49.0 h	64.9	72.8
Cameroon	2018 D	0.232	43.6	10,931	11,548	53.2	0.026	24.6	17.6	25.2	27.6	47.1	37.5	26.0
Central African Republic	2018/2019 M	0.461	80.4	4,189	4,297	57.4	0.025	55.8	12.9	20.2	27.8	52.0		
Chad	2019 M	0.517	84.2	13,575	14,011	61.4	0.024	64.6	10.7	19.1	36.6	44.3	42.3	33.2
Colombia	2015/2016 D	0.020 ^d	4.8 ^d	2,308 d	2,468 d	40.6 ^d	0.009 ^d	0.8 ^d	6.2 ^d	12.0 d	39.5 d	48.5 ^d	42.5	10.3
Congo (Democratic Republic of the)	2017/2018 M	0.331	64.5	56,187	59,907	51.3	0.020	36.8	17.4	23.1	19.9	57.0	63.9	77.2
Costa Rica	2018 M	0.002 ^{g,j}	0.5 ^{g,j}	27 ^{g.j}	28 ^{g,j}	37.1 ^{g,j}	^e	0.0 ^{g,j}	2.4 ^{g,j}	40.5 ^{g.j}	41.0 ^{g,j}	18.5 ^{g,j}	30.0	2.1
Côte d'Ivoire	2016 M	0.236	46.1	11,155	12,352	51.2	0.019	24.5	17.6	19.6	40.4	40.0	39.5	9.2
Cuba	2019 M	0.003 9	0.7 ^g	80 g	80 ^g	38.19	^e	0.19	2.7 9	10.1 g	39.8 9	50.1 ⁹		
Dominican Republic Ecuador	2019 M 2018 N	0.009	2.3 2.1	247 356	249 368	38.8 38.0	0.006	0.2	4.8 5.9	14.6 33.9	46.2 27.3	39.2 38.8	21.0 33.0	0.8 6.5
Ethiopia	2018 N 2019 D	0.008	68.7	78,443	80,553	53.3	0.004	41.9	18.4	14.0	31.5	54.5	23.5	30.8
Gambia	2019/2020 D	0.198	41.7	1,074	1,074	47.5	0.016	17.3	28.0	32.7	33.0	34.3	48.6	10.3
Georgia	2018 M	0.001 º	0.3 g	13 g	13 g	36.6 ^g	e	0.0 9	2.19	47.1 º	23.8 g	29.19	21.3	4.2
Ghana	2017/2018 M	0.111	24.6	7,606	7,928	45.1	0.014	8.4	20.1	23.6	30.5	45.9	23.4	12.7
Guinea	2018 D	0.373	66.2	8,313	8,743	56.4	0.025	43.5	16.4	21.4	38.4	40.3	43.7	23.2
Guinea-Bissau	2018/2019 M	0.341	64.4	1,269	1,298	52.9	0.021	35.9	20.0	19.1	35.0	45.8	47.7	24.7
Guyana	2019/2020 M	0.007	1.7	14	14	38.8	0.006	0.2	6.5	29.2	23.0	47.7		
Haiti	2016/2017 D	0.200	41.3	4,483	4,666	48.4	0.019	18.5	21.8	18.5	24.6	57.0	58.5	24.5
Honduras	2019 M	0.051	12.0	1,193	1,212	42.7	0.011	3.0	14.8	18.8	39.2	42.0	48.0	14.8
India Indonesia	2019/2021 D 2017 D	0.069 0.014 ^d	16.4 3.6 ^d	230,739 9,572 d	228,907 9,839 ^d	42.0 38.7 d	0.010 0.006 ^d	4.2 0.4 ^d	18.7 4.7 ^d	32.2 34.7 ^d	28.2 26.8 ^d	39.7 38.5 ^d	21.9 9.8	22.5 2.2
Iraq	2017 D 2018 M	0.014 -	8.6	3,505	3,675	37.9	0.008	1.3	5.2	33.1	60.9	6.0	9.0	1.7
Jamaica	2018 N	0.033	2.8 ^k	3,303 78 ^k	3,013 78 ^k	38.9 ^k	0.005 ^k	0.2 ^k	5.0 ^k	52.2 k	20.9 ^k	26.9 ^k	19.9	
Jordan	2017/2018 D	0.002	0.4	45	47	35.4	e	0.0	0.7	37.5	53.5	9.0	15.7	0.1
Kiribati	2018/2019 M	0.080	19.8	25	25	40.5	0.006	3.5	30.2	30.3	12.1	57.6	21.9	1.3
Kyrgyzstan	2018 M	0.001	0.4	24	25	36.3	^e	0.0	5.2	64.6	17.9	17.5	25.3	1.1
Lao People's Democratic Republic	2017 M	0.108	23.1	1,615	1,689	47.0	0.016	9.6	21.2	21.5	39.7	38.8	18.3	10.0
Lesotho	2018 M	0.084 ^j	19.6 ^j	431 ^j	442 ^j	43.0 ^j	0.009 ^j	5.0 ^j	28.6 ^j	21.9 ^j	18.1 ^j	60.0 ^j	49.7	27.2
Liberia	2019/2020 D	0.259	52.3	2,662	2,662	49.6	0.018	24.9	23.3	19.7	28.6	51.7	50.9	44.4
Madagascar	2018 M	0.384	69.1	18,545	19,497	55.6	0.023	45.5	14.3	15.5	33.1 25 5	51.5	70.7	78.8
Malawi Maldives	2019/2020 M 2016/2017 D	0.231 0.003	49.9 0.8	9,666 4	9,666 4	46.3 34.4	0.012 ^e	17.5 0.0	27.5 4.8	18.6 80.7	25.5 15.1	55.9 4.2	50.7 5.4	73.5 0.0
Mali	2016/2017 D 2018 D	0.003	68.3	4 13,622	4 14,503	34.4 55.0	0.022	44.7	4.8	80.7 19.6	41.2	4.Z 39.3	5.4 41.9	16.3
Mauritania	2019/2021 D	0.327	58.4	2,697	2,629	56.0	0.022	38.0	12.3	17.7	42.4	39.9	31.0	6.0
Mexico	2020 N	0.028 k	7.4 ^k	9,316 ^k	9,316 ^k	37.9 ^k	0.005 k	0.9 ^k	2.9 k	79.4 ^k	7.3 ^k	13.3 ^k	43.9	3.1
Mongolia	2018 M	0.0281	7.3	2301	2391	38.81	0.0041	0.81	15.5	21.1	26.81	52.1	27.8	0.5
Montenegro	2018 M	0.005	1.2	8	8	39.6	^e	0.1	2.9	58.5	22.3	19.2	22.6	2.9
Могоссо	2017/2018 P	0.027 ^m	6.4 ^m	2,285 m	2,333 m	42.0 ^m	0.012 m	1.4 ^m	10.9 ^m	24.4 ^m	46.8 ^m	28.8 ^m	4.8	0.9
Myanmar	2015/2016 D	0.176	38.3	19,883	20,470	45.9	0.015	13.8	21.9	18.5	32.3	49.2	24.8	1.4
Nepal	2019 M	0.074	17.5	5,047	5,137	42.5	0.010	4.9	17.8	23.2	33.9	43.0	25.2	15.0
Nigeria	2018 D	0.254	46.4	92,085	96,699	54.8	0.029	26.8	19.2	30.9	28.2	40.9	40.1	39.1
North Macedonia	2018/2019 M	0.001	0.4	8	8	38.2	^e	0.1	2.2	29.6	52.6	17.8	21.6	3.4
Pakistan Palostina State of	2017/2018 D	0.198	38.3	84,228	87,089	51.7	0.023 e	21.5	12.9	27.6 62.9	41.3	31.1	21.9	3.6
Palestine, State of Papua New Guinea	2019/2020 M 2016/2018 D	0.002 0.263 d	0.6 56.6 ^d	28 5,283 d	28 5,521 d	35.0 46.5₫	^e 0.016 ^d	0.0 25.8 ^d	1.3 25.3 ₫	62.9 4.6 ^d	31.0 30.1 ^d	6.1 65.3₫	29.2 39.9	0.8 38.0
Paraguay	2016/2016 D 2016 M	0.265*	4.5	282	298	40.5 -	0.018	1.0	7.2	4.0-	38.9	46.8	26.9	0.8
, arayuuy	2010 M	0.017	т.Ј	202	270	71.7	0.013	1.0	1.4	J.J	50.7	10.0	20.7	0.0

		SDG 1.2 Population in multidimensional poverty ^a Population								in din	ution of dep nension to o mensional p	SDG 1.2 SDG 1.1 Population living below monetary poverty line (%)		
	Multidime Poverty Year and survey ^b			Headcount (thous		Intensity of deprivation	Inequality among the poor	Population in severe multidimensional poverty	Population vulnerable to multidimensional poverty ^a	Health	Education	Standard of living	National poverty line	PPP \$1.90 a day
Country	2010-2021	Value	(%)	In survey year	2020	(%)	Value	(%)	(%)	(%)	(%)	(%)	2009-2020	2009-2021 ^c
Peru	2019 N	0.029	7.4	2,418	2,454	39.7	0.007	1.2	10.3	15.7	32.7	51.6	30.1	4.4
Philippines	2017 D	0.024 d	5.8 d	6,187 d	6,503 d	41.8 ^d	0.010 d	1.3 d	7.3 d	20.3 d	31.0 d	48.7 d	16.7	2.7
Rwanda	2019/2020 D	0.231	48.8	6,418	6,418	47.3	0.014	19.7	22.7	19.0	26.6	54.4	38.2	56.5
Samoa	2019/2020 M	0.025	6.3	14	14	39.1	0.003	0.5	12.9	36.9	31.2	31.9	20.3	1.1
Sao Tome and Principe	2019 M 2019 D	0.048 0.263	11.7 50.8	25 8,134	26 8,355	40.9 51.7	0.007	2.1 27.7	17.0 18.2	18.7 20.7	36.6 48.4	44.6 30.9	 46.7	25.6 7.6
Senegal Serbia	2019 D 2019 M	0.203 0.000 g.n	0.1 g.n	0,134 8 g,n	0,333 8 g,n	38.1 g.n	0.019 ^e	0.0 g.n	2.1 g.n	30,9 g,n	40.4 40.1 ^{g,n}	29.0 g,n	21.7	2.3
Seychelles	2019 N	0.003 j.o	0.9 j.o	1 j.o	1 j.o	34.2 j.º	e	0.0 j.o	0.4 j.o	66.8 ^{j,0}	32.1 j.º	1.1 j.o	25.3	0.5
Sierra Leone	2019 D	0.293	59.2	4,765	4,876	49.5	0.019	28.0	21.3	23.0	24.1	53.0	56.8	43.0
South Africa	2016 D	0.025	6.3	3,530	3,679	39.8	0.005	0.9	12.2	39.5	13.1	47.4	55.5	18.7
Sri Lanka	2016 N	0.011	2.9	626	634	38.3	0.004	0.3	14.3	32.5	24.4	43.0	4.1	0.9
Suriname	2018 M	0.011 0.029	2.9	17	17 710	39.4 39.0	0.007 0.004	0.4 0.7	4.0 20.1	20.4	43.8 26.5	35.8	 24 2	
Tajikistan Tanzania (United Republic of)	2017 D 2015/2016 D	0.029 0.284 h	7.4 57.1 h	664 31,046 h	35,213 h	39.0 49.8 h	0.004 0.016 h	0.7 27.5 h	20.1 23.4 ^h	47.8 22.5 h	26.5 22.3 h	25.8 55.2 h	26.3 26.4	4.1 49.4
Thailand	2019 M	0.002 g	0.6 g	412 g	413 g	36.7 9	0.003 g	0.0 g	6.1 ^g	38.39	45.19	16.7 º	6.8	0.0
Timor-Leste	2016 D	0.222 h	48.3 h	591 ^h	627 h	45.9 h	0.014 h	17.4 h	26.8 h	29.3 h	23.1 ^h	47.6 h	41.8	22.0
Togo	2017 M	0.180	37.6	2,954	3,175	47.8	0.016	15.2	23.8	20.9	28.1	50.9	55.1	24.1
Tonga	2019 M	0.003	0.9	1	1	38.1	^e	0.0	6.4	38.2	40.7	21.1	22.5	1.0
Tunisia Turkmanistan	2018 M	0.003	0.8	94	96	36.5	e	0.1	2.4	24.4	61.6	14.0	15.2	0.2
Turkmenistan Tuvalu	2019 M 2019/2020 M	0.001 ^j 0.008	0.2 ¹ 2.1	15 ¹ 0	16 ³ 0	34.0 ^j 38.2	^e 0.002	0.0 ^j 0.0	0.3 ³ 12.2	82.4 ^j 36.5	15.5 ^j 43.6	2.1 ^j 20.0	 26.3	 3.3
Uganda	2016 D	0.281 ^h	57.2 h	22,152 h	25,385 h	49.2 h	0.017 h	25.7 h	23.6 h	24.0 h	21.6 h	54.5 h	20.3	41.0
Viet Nam	2020/2021 M	0.008 d	1.9 d	1,871 ^d	1,855 d	40.3 ^d	0.010 d	0.4 ^d	3.5 d	22.9 d	40.7 d	36.4 d	6.7	1.8
Zambia	2018 D	0.232	47.9	8,544	9,068	48.4	0.015	21.0	23.9	21.5	25.0	53.5	54.4	58.7
Zimbabwe	2019 M	0.110	25.8	3,961	4,043	42.6	0.009	6.8	26.3	23.6	17.3	59.2	38.3	39.5
Estimates based on surveys for 2010-		0.000 k	2.5 ^k	7×	7×	24.24		0.01	0.5 k	06.04	0.7 ×	2.24		
Barbados Bhutan	2012 M 2010 M	0.009 ^k 0.175 ^g	2.5 * 37.3 9	263 9	288 g	34.2 ^k 46.8 ^g	^e 0.016 ^g	0.0 ^k 14.7 g	0.5 ^k 17.7 ^g	96.0 ^k 24.2 ^g	36.69	3.3 ^k 39.2 ^g	 8.2	 1.5
Bosnia and Herzegovina	2011/2012 M	0.008 k	2.2 k	80 k	73 k	37.9 ^k	0.010 k	0.1 k	4.1 ×	79.7 ×	7.2 k	13.1 k	16.9	0.1
Brazil	2015 N ^p	0.016 d.g.p	3.8 d,g,p	7,883 d.g.p	8,191 d.g.p	42.5 d.g.p	0.008 d.g.p	0.9 d,g,p	6.2 d.g.p	49.8 ^{d,g,p}	22.9 ^{d,g,p}	27.3 d.g.p		1.7
Burkina Faso	2010 D	0.523 h	84.2 ^h	13,569 h	18,120 h	62.2 h	0.027 h	65.3 h	7.2 h	20.5 h	40.4 h	39.1 h	41.4	33.7
Cambodia	2014 D	0.170	37.2	5,656	6,097	45.8	0.015	13.2	21.1	21.8	31.7	46.6	17.7	
China	2014 Nº	0.016 r.s	3.9 r.s	53,815 r.s	55,359 r.s	41.4 rs	0.005 r.s	0.3 1.5	17.4 r.s	35.2 ^{r,s}	39.2 r.s	25.6 r.s	0.0	0.1
Comoros Congo	2012 D 2014/2015 M	0.181 0.112	37.3 24.3	255 1,229	300 1,384	48.5 46.0	0.020 0.013	16.1 9.4	22.3 21.3	20.8 23.4	31.6 20.2	47.6 56.4	42.4 40.9	19.1 39.6
Egypt	2014 D	0.020 h.j	5.2 ^{h,j}	5,008 h.j	5,630 ^{h,j}	37.6 h.j	0.004 h.j	0.6 hj	6.1 hj	40.0 h.j	53.1 ^{h,j}	6.9 h.j	32.5	3.8
El Salvador	2014 M	0.032	7.9	488	495	41.3	0.009	1.7	9.9	15.5	43.4	41.1	26.2	1.3
Eswatini (Kingdom of)	2014 M	0.081	19.2	216	227	42.3	0.009	4.4	20.9	29.3	17.9	52.8	58.9	29.2
Gabon	2012 D	0.070 h	15.6 ^h	287 h	358 h	44.7 h	0.013 h	5.1 h	18.4 h	32.7 h	21.4 h	46.0 ^h	33.4	3.4
Guatemala	2014/2015 D	0.134	28.9	4,621	5,015	46.2	0.013 e	11.2 0.0 ch	21.1	26.3	35.0	38.7	59.3	8.8
Kazakhstan Kenya	2015 M 2014 D	0.002 ^{g,h} 0.171 ^h	0.5 ^{g,h} 37.5 ^h	81 ^{g,h} 17,176 ^h	86 ^{g,h} 19,483 ^h	35.6 ^{g,h} 45.6 ^h	e 0.014 ^h	0.0 g,h 12.4 h	1.8 ^{g,h} 35.8 ^h	90.4 ^{g,h} 23.5 ^h	3.1 ^{g,h} 15.0 ^h	6.4 ^{g,h} 61.5 ^h	5.3 36.1	0.0 37.1
Libya	2014 D 2014 P	0.007	2.0	122	133	37.1	0.003	0.1	11.4	39.0	48.6	12.4		
Moldova (Republic of)	2012 M	0.004	0.9	33	29	37.4	e	0.1	3.7	9.2	42.4	48.4	26.8	0.0
Mozambique	2011 D	0.417 h	73.1 ^h	17,378 h	22,803 h	57.0 h	0.023 h	49.9 h	13.3 h	18.0 h	32.1 ^h	49.9 h	46.1	63.7
Namibia	2013 D	0.185 h	40.9 h	901 ^h	1,018 h	45.2 h	0.013 h	13.1 h	19.2 h	31.6 h	13.9 h	54.4 h	17.4	13.8
Nicaragua	2011/2012 D	0.074 h	16.5 ^h	993 h	1,112 h	45.3 ^h	0.013 h	5.6 h	13.4 ^h	11.5 ^h	36.2 ^h	52.3 h	24.9	3.4
Niger Saint Lucia	2012 D 2012 M	0.601 h 0.007 k	91.0 h 1.9 k	16,333 h 3 k	22,137 h 3 k	66.1 h 37.5 k	0.026 h	76.3 h 0.0 k	4.9 h 1.6 k	21.4 h 69.5 k	36.7 h 7.5 k	41.8 h 23.0 k	40.8 25.0	41.4 4.6
South Sudan	2012 M	0.580	91.9	8,924	9,743	63.2	0.023	74.3	6.3	14.0	39.6	46.5	82.3	76.5
Sudan	2014 M	0.279	52.3	19,363	23,255	53.4	0.023	30.9	17.7	21.1	29.2	49.8	46.5	12.2
Trinidad and Tobago	2011 M	0.002 g	0.6 g	9 g	10 g	38.0 g	^e	0.1 g	3.7 g	45.5 g	34.0 ^g	20.5 g		
Ukraine	2012 M	0.001 ^{d,h}	0.2 ^{d,h}	111 d,h	107 ^{d,h}	34.4 ^{d,h}	^e	0.0 ^{d,h}	0.4 ^{d,h}	60.5 ^{d,h}	28.4 ^{d,h}	11.2 ^{d,h}	1.1	0.0
Yemen	2013 D	0.245 h	48.5 ^h	13,078 h	15,647 h	50.6 h	0.021 h	24.3 h	22.3 ^h	29.0 ^h	30.4 h	40.6 ^h	48.6	18.3
Developing countries Regions	-	0.094	19.1	1,099,361	1,162,446	49.0	0.017	8.5	14.9	24.9	31.3	43.8	20.5	14.2
Arab States	-	0.074	15.1	44,119	51,444	48.9	0.019	6.8	8.9	26.1	34.3	39.6	26.4	5.0
East Asia and the Pacific	-	0.022	5.3	105,153	108,651	42.6	0.009	1.0	14.4	27.9	35.2	36.8	3.8	0.9
Europe and Central Asia	-	0.004	1.0	1,072	1,109	38.0	0.004	0.1	3.2	53.2	24.6	22.2	10.9	0.9
Latin America and the Caribbean	-	0.027	6.3	36,054	37,374	42.2	0.010	1.6	6.4	39.8	24.9	35.3	40.8	4.0
South Asia	-	0.091	20.5	381,056	385,103	44.6	0.014	6.9	17.9	28.0	33.7	38.3	22.6	19.0
Sub-Saharan Africa	_	0.286	53.4	531,907	578,765	53.5	0.022	30.9	18.7	21.9	29.5	48.6	41.1	41.1

Notes

- a Not all indicators were available for all countries, so caution should be used in cross-country comparisons. When an indicator is missing, weights of available indicators are adjusted to total 100 percent. See *Technical note* 5 at http://hdr.undp.org/sites/default/files/mpi2022 _technical_notes.pdf and *Methodological Note* 52 at https://ophi.org.uk/mpi-methodological-note-52/ for details.
- b D indicates data from Demographic and Health Surveys, M indicates data from Multiple Indicator Cluster Surveys, N indicates data from national surveys and P indicates data from Pan Arab Population and Family Health Surveys (see http://hdr.undp.org/en/mpi-2022-faq and Methodological Note 52 at https://ophi.org.uk/mpi -methodological-note-52/ for the list of national surveys).
- Data refer to the most recent year available during the period specified.

d Missing indicator on nutrition.

- e Value is not reported because it is based on a small number of multidimensionally poor people.
- f Urban areas only.
- g Considers child deaths that occurred at any time because the survey did not collect the date of child deaths.
- h Revised estimate from the 2020 MPI.
- Captures only deaths of children under age 5 who died in the last five years and deaths of children ages 12–18 years who died in the last two years.
- j Missing indicator on cooking fuel.
- k Missing indicator on child mortality.
- I Indicator on sanitation follows the national classification in which pit latrine with slab is considered unimproved.
- Following the national report, latrines are considered an improved source for the sanitation indicator.
- n Because of the high proportion of children excluded from nutrition indicators due to measurements not being taken, estimates based on the 2019 Serbia Multiple Indicator Cluster Survey should be interpreted with caution. The unweighted sample size used for the multidimensional poverty calculation is 82.8 percent.
- o Missing indicator on school attendance.
- p The methodology was adjusted to account for missing indicator on nutrition and incomplete indicator on child mortality (the survey did not collect the date of child deaths).

q Based on the version of data accessed on 7 June 2016.

r Given the information available in the data, child mortality was constructed based on deaths that occurred between surveys—that is, between 2012 and 2014. Child deaths reported by an adult man in the household were taken into account because the date of death was reported.

s Missing indicator on housing.

Definitions

Multidimensional Poverty Index: Proportion of the population that is multidimensionally poor adjusted by the intensity of the deprivations. See *Technical note* 5 at http://hdr.undp. org/sites/default/files/mpi2O22_technical_notes.pdf and *Methodological* Note 52 at https://ophi.org.uk/mpi-methodological -note-52/ for details on how the Multidimensional Poverty Index is calculated.

Multidimensional poverty headcount: Population with a deprivation score of at least 33.3 percent. It is expressed as a share of the population in the survey year, the number of multidimensionally poor people in the survey year and the projected number of multidimensionally poor people in 2020.

Intensity of deprivation of multidimensional poverty: Average deprivation score experienced by people in multidimensional poverty.

Inequality among the poor: Variance of individual deprivation scores of poor people. It is calculated by subtracting the deprivation score of each multidimensionally poor person from the intensity, squaring the differences and dividing the sum of the weighted squares by the number of multidimensionally poor people.

Population in severe multidimensional poverty: Percentage of the population in severe multidimensional poverty—that is, those with a deprivation score of 50 percent or more.

Population vulnerable to multidimensional poverty: Percentage of the population at risk of suffering multiple deprivations that is, those with a deprivation score of 20–33.3 percent.

Contribution of deprivation in dimension to overall multidimensional poverty: Percentage of the Multidimensional Poverty Index attributed to deprivations in each dimension.

Population living below national poverty line: Percentage of the population living below the national poverty line, which is the poverty line deemed appropriate for a country by its authorities. National estimates are based on population-weighted subgroup estimates from household surveys.

Population living below PPP \$1.90 a day: Percentage of the population living below the international poverty line of \$1.90 (in 2011 purchasing power parity [PPP] terms) a day.

Main data sources

Column 1: Refers to the year and the survey whose data were used to calculate the country's Multidimensional Poverty Index value and its components.

Columns 2–12: HDRO and OPHI calculations based on data on household deprivations in health, education and standard of living from various household surveys listed in column 1 using the methodology described in *Technical note* 5 (available at http://hdr.undp.org/sites/default/files/mpi2022_technical_ notes.pdf) and *Methodological Note* 52 at https://ophi.org.uk/ mpi-methodological-note-52/. Columns 4 and 5 also use population data from United Nations Department of Economic and Social Affairs. 2022. *World Population Prospects: The 2022 Revision.* New York. https://esa.un.org/unpd/wpp/. Accessed 7 August 2022.

Columns 13 and 14: World Bank. 2022. World Development Indicators database. Washington, DC. http://data.worldbank.org. Accessed 7 August 2022.

Multidimensional Poverty Index: changes over time based on harmonized estimates

			mul	Population in tidimensional p				People wh	o are multidir	mensionally	poor and dep	orived in ea	ch indicator		
	Modelation	cional	Не	adcount	Intensity of		Child	Voors of	Sebeel	Cooling		Deinking			
	Multidimen Poverty In			(thousands)	Intensity of deprivation	Nutrition	Child mortality	Years of schooling	School attendance	Cooking fuel	Sanitation	Drinking water	Electricity	Housing	Assets
Country	Year and survey⁵	Value	(%)	In survey year	(%)	(%)	(%)	(%)	(%)	(%)	(%)	(%)	(%)	(%)	(%)
Albania	2008/2009 D	0.008	2.1	60 °	37.8	1.3	0.3	0.4	1.0	1.8	1.0	0.8	0.0	1.3	0.3
Albania	2017/2018 D	0.003	0.7	20	39.1 ^d	0.5	0.0	0.5 d	0.4	0.3	0.1	0.2	0.0	0.1	0.0
Algeria	2012/2013 M	0.008	2.1	800 °	38.5	1.2	0.4	1.5	0.9	0.2	0.8	0.6	0.3	0.8	0.2
Algeria	2018/2019 M	0.005	1.4	590 °	39.2 ^d	0.8	0.2	1.0	0.6	0.1 d	0.6 ^d	0.4 ^d	0.2 ^d	0.4	0.1 ^d
Armenia	2010 D	0.001	0.4	12 °	35.9	0.4	0.1	0.0	0.2	0.0	0.2	0.1	0.0	0.0	0.0
Armenia	2015/2016 De	0.001 ^d	0.2 ^d	5	35.9 ^d	0.1 d	0.0	0.0 ^d	0.1 ^d	0.1 ^d	0.2 d	0.0 ^d	0.0	0.0 ^d	0.0 ^d
Bangladesh	2014 De	0.175	37.6	58,582 °	46.5	16.4	2.3	25.3	9.5	35.9	28.2	4.1	23.8	35.8	26.2
Bangladesh	2019 M	0.101	24.1	39,830 °	42.0	8.7	1.3	16.6	6.5	22.8	15.3	1.4	4.6	22.8	15.9
Belize	2011 M	0.030	7.4	24	41.1	4.6	2.6	1.9	3.5	4.5	1.9	0.8	2.8	4.4	2.5
Belize	2015/2016 M ^f	0.020	4.9	18	40.2 ^d	3.5 d	1.7 d	0.7 ^d	1.7	3.2 ^d	2.3 d	0.7 ^d	2.6 ^d	3.0 ^d	1.3
Benin	2014 M	0.346	63.2	6,712 °	54.7	32.0	11.5	42.5	31.0	62.7	61.5	32.4	54.2	44.3	16.3
Benin	2017/2018 De	0.362 d	66.0 ^d	7,880 °	54.9 ^d	33.7 d	10.3 ^d	44.2 ^d	35.5	65.6 ^d	63.8 ^d	36.9	54.7 d	42.5 d	17.6 ^d
Bolivia (Plurinational State of)	2003 D	0.167	33.9	3,070 °	49.2	17.0	4.2	15.9	13.0	27.1	33.2	15.4	22.3	32.7	19.1
Bolivia (Plurinational State of)	2008 D	0.095	20.6	2,037 °	46.2	10.2	2.7	11.6	3.4	17.9	20.1	8.2	13.2	17.0	11.4
Bolivia (Plurinational State of)	2016 N	0.038	9.1	1,025 °	41.7	3.7	0.5	5.8	1.4	7.2	8.7	3.1	3.8	7.5	3.8
Bosnia and Herzegovina	2006 M ^g	0.015	3.9	160 °	38.9	3.3		0.8	0.4	2.5	0.6	0.3	0.1	0.7	0.4
Bosnia and Herzegovina	2011/2012 Mg	0.008	2.2	80 ^c	37.9 ^d	2.0		0.2	0.2 ^d	1.5	0.3	0.0	0.1 ^d	0.0	0.1
Burkina Faso	2006 M	0.607	88.7	12,704 °	68.4	49.3	52.0	62.7	62.7	88.3	88.4	55.5	80.3	81.3	18.2
Burkina Faso	2010 D ^{e,f}	0.574 ^d	86.3 ^d	13,911 °	66.5 ^d	41.6	49.9 d	68.7	58.9 ^d	85.8 ^d	77.9	42.0	83.4 ^d	72.8	13.8
Burundi	2010 D	0.464	82.3	7,511 °	56.4	53.3	8.7	50.5	28.0	82.1	56.5	53.7	81.4	78.8	60.8
Burundi	2016/2017 D	0.409	75.1	8,378 °	54.4	50.6 ^d	7.9 ^d	42.6	24.0	74.9	45.7	42.8	73.5	70.6	53.3
Cambodia	2010 D	0.228	47.7	6,851 °	47.8	29.2	3.1	26.4	10.4	47.1	42.4	27.2	42.8	29.2	14.6
Cambodia	2014 D	0.170	37.2	5,656 °	45.8	20.4	1.8	21.6	10.8 ^d	36.2	30.6	21.3	26.2	21.8	6.6
Cameroon	2011 De	0.258	47.6	9,742 °	54.2	28.0	11.3	24.2	18.1	46.9	36.3	33.3	38.8	40.4	24.2
Cameroon	2014 M	0.243 d	45.4 ^d	10,132 °	53.6 ^d	24.4	9.7 d	23.5 d	17.6 ^d	44.7 ^d	40.3 ^d	28.8	37.0 ^d	39.0 d	22.8 d
Cameroon	2018 De	0.229 d	43.2 ^d	10,843 °	53.1 ^d	25.2 d	8.4 ^d	19.3 d	19.4 ^d	42.6 ^d	33.3	26.7 d	34.6 ^d	36.8 ^d	22.1 d
Central African Republic	2000 M	0.573	89.6	3,367 °	64.0	45.7	45.5	44.2	63.6	88.9	69.6	44.3	84.8	78.2	69.2
Central African Republic	2010 M	0.481	81.2	3,786 °	59.2	37.3	40.6	38.7	33.1	81.0	60.0	55.2	77.9	74.6	67.3
Central African Republic	2018/2019 M ^f	0.516	84.3	4,394 °	61.2	44.3	35.9	46.3	33.8 ^d	83.9	71.1	63.0	77.9 ^d	78.4	74.3 d
Chad	2010 M	0.601	90.0	10,708 °	66.7	47.2	44.6	64.8	49.3	89.2	83.8	64.6	87.7	87.7	50.6
Chad	2014/2015 Df	0.578	89.4 ^d	12,636 °	64.7	46.0 ^d	40.1	57.7	52.5 d	88.3 ^d	85.3 d	61.2 ^d	85.1 ^d	86.0 ^d	45.8
Chad	2019 M ^f	0.562 d	87.7 ^d	14,143 °	64.1 ^d	44.8 ^d	32.6	58.0 ^d	59.9	85.2	80.3	48.3	83.9 ^d	83.3	45.1 ^d
China	2010 N ^{f,h,i}	0.041	9.5	127,721 °	43.2	6.3	0.8	5.8	1.3	8.5	4.4	7.2	0.3		5.5
China	2014 N ^{f,h,i}	0.018	4.2	58,313 °	41.6 ^d	3.4	0.6	2.2	1.4 ^d	3.1	1.0	2.1	0.0 ^d		1.2
Colombia	2010 D ⁱ	0.024	6.0	2,668 °	40.4		0.9	4.8	1.1	4.5	4.2	3.6	1.5	4.5	1.9
Colombia	2015/2016 D ⁱ	0.020	4.8	2,308 °	40.6 ^d		0.7	3.9	0.8	3.7	3.5	3.3 ^d	1.4 ^d	4.0 ^d	1.2
Congo	2005 De	0.258	53.8	1,974 °	48.0	26.5	10.3	10.4	15.5	52.6	52.8	38.7	45.7	42.6	44.4
Congo	2014/2015 M	0.114	24.7	1,253 °	46.1	12.6	3.1	9.7 ^d	4.0	24.1	23.4	15.2	20.5	19.7	14.1
Congo (Democratic Republic of the)	2007 D °	0.428	76.7	46,251 °	55.8	43.8	14.2	22.0	41.2	76.5	65.4	62.7	73.0	70.8	58.9
Congo (Democratic Republic of the)	2013/2014 D °	0.375	71.9 d	54,692 °	52.2	44.1 ^d	11.7 ^d	18.5 ^d	24.5	71.7 ^d	60.6 ^d	58.6 ^d	68.9 ^d	67.4 ^d	51.6
Congo (Democratic Republic of the)	2017/2018 M	0.337	64.8	56,438 °	52.1 ^d	38.8	7.2	16.4 ^d	26.7 ^d	64.1	59.9 d	50.8	57.9	58.6	48.7 ^d
Côte d'Ivoire	2011/2012 D	0.310	58.9	12,960 °	52.7	30.5	11.2	37.4	32.9	56.8	54.0	27.0	37.7	30.7	16.1
Côte d'Ivoire	2016 M	0.236	46.1	11,155 °	51.2	20.6	7.1	31.7	25.4	43.4	40.2	23.0 ^d	29.0	24.1	10.0
Dominican Republic	2007 D ^j	0.030	7.3	683 °	41.0		1.6	5.3	2.2	3.7	3.9	1.5	1.7	6.6	4.3
Dominican Republic	2014 M ^j	0.014	3.7	379 °	38.6		1.4 ^d	2.3	0.6	1.9	1.9	0.5	1.0	1.6	1.5
Dominican Republic	2019 M ^j	0.011	2.8	306	38.7 ^d		1.2 d	1.6	0.6 ^d	1.2	1.4	0.3	0.4	1.5 ^d	1.1
Ecuador	2013/2014 N	0.019	4.7	743	40.0	3.0	1.5	1.6	1.0	1.8	2.9	2.3	0.7	2.4	2.2
Ecuador	2018 N ^f	0.011	3.0	504	38.1	2.1	1.2	0.8	0.7	1.1	1.2	0.9	0.5	1.1	1.3
Egypt	2008 D ^k	0.032	8.0	6,692 °	40.1	5.8	1.0	4.4	5.3		1.6	0.5	0.2	2.8	1.7
Egypt	2014 D ^k	0.018	4.9	4,676 °	37.6	3.5	0.8 ^d	2.8	3.1		0.7	0.3 ^d	0.0	0.7	0.2
Eswatini (Kingdom of)	2010 M	0.130	29.3	322 °	44.3	18.2	5.4	8.9	4.6	27.5	18.8	19.8	27.0	15.2	13.8
Eswatini (Kingdom of)	2014 M	0.081	19.2	216 °	42.3	11.4	2.9	6.0	2.7	17.8	13.1	12.9	15.6	8.8	9.1
Ethiopia	2011 D ^e	0.491	83.5	76,634 °	58.9	34.9	7.2	57.2	39.9	83.1	78.5	70.1	77.0	83.1	74.9
Ethiopia	2016 De	0.436	77.4	81,526 °	56.3	30.1	5.6	52.2	33.4	76.8	74.7	58.4	70.7	77.0	63.4
Ethiopia	2019 D	0.367	68.8	78,485 °	53.3	26.9 ^d	4.0	38.2	31.0 ^d	68.3	64.8	46.8	57.3	67.6	55.0
Gabon	2000 D	0.145	30.9	393 °	47.0	15.3	6.2	12.8	6.8	24.5	29.2	21.4	19.5	18.9	24.3
Gabon	2012 D	0.068	15.3	281°	44.7	9.5	3.7	5.7	3.1	9.5	14.3	9.8	7.4	9.1	6.6
Gambia	2005/2006 M	0.387	68.0	1,164 °	56.9	35.3	40.7	34.1	38.2	67.6	34.7	28.7	60.0	44.2	15.6
Gambia	2013 D ^{e,f}	0.339	61.9	1,316 °	54.8	37.5 d	34.6	22.1	38.9 ^d	61.6	43.0	16.6	51.4	30.8	7.5
Gambia	2018 M ^f	0.257	50.0	1,223 °	51.5	29.2	30.3 d	16.6	28.1	49.8	33.7	15.0 ^d	30.1	18.4	3.8

			mult	Population in multidimensional poverty People who are multidimensionally poor and deprived in each indicator												
	Multidimens Poverty In		Неа	adcount (thousands)	Intensity of deprivation	Nutrition	Child mortality	Years of schooling	School attendance	Cooking fuel	Sanitation	Drinking water	Electricity	Housing	Assets	
Country	Year and survey ^b	Value	(%)	In survey year	(%)	(%)	(%)	(%)	(%)	(%)	(%)	(%)	(%)	(%)	(%)	
Gambia	2019/2020 De,f	0.241 d	48.2 d	1,241	50.0 d	26.3 ^d	32.0 d	12.8	28.8 d	47.8 ^d	31.6 ^d	10.6	28.6 d	12.5	3.7 ^d	
Ghana	2011 M	0.153	31.8	8,341°	47.9	14.8	4.9	16.9	8.7	31.5	30.4	19.1	23.6	20.9	13.0	
Ghana	2014 De	0.130	28.4 d	8,012 °	45.7	12.6 d	3.1	14.9 d	10.2 d	28.0 d	27.0 d	14.4	15.5	16.7	9.9	
Ghana	2017/2018 D	0.112 d	24.7	7,624 °	45.2 d	12.4 d	3.4 d	12.5 d	8.1 ^d	24.5 d	22.8	12.3 d	10.9	13.7	8.0	
Guinea	2012 De	0.421	71.2	7,685 °	59.1	34.3	13.8	50.5	47.0	71.2	63.0	41.4	64.7	50.9	29.7	
Guinea	2016 M	0.336	61.9	7,384 °	54.3	29.0	8.6	39.7	38.4	61.7	51.0	35.5	53.2	33.5	22.8	
Guinea	2018 De	0.364	65.0 d	8,155 °	56.0	31.7 d	12.0	45.9	39.6 d	64.6 ^d	54.8 d	36.5 d	48.4	38.8	24.0 d	
Guinea-Bissau	2014 M	0.363	66.0	1,151 °	55.0	35.3	12.5	39.7	32.2	65.3	64.0	27.5	60.6	63.8	13.2	
Guinea-Bissau	2018/2019 M	0.341 d	64.4 ^d	1,269 °	52.9	32.2 d	6.9	40.8 ^d	30.7 d	64.2 ^d	61.2 d	34.0	45.4	63.5 d	12.8 d	
Guyana	2009 De	0.023	5.4	41	41.9	3.5	0.7	1.5	1.3	3.1	2.6	2.3	4.6	3.5	3.7	
Guyana	2014 M	0.014 ^d	3.3 d	25	41.7 ^d	2.1 ^d	0.6 ^d	0.6	0.9 ^d	2.1 ^d	1.8 ^d	1.5 ^d	2.7 d	2.2 d	1.8	
Guyana	2019/2020 M	0.006	1.7	13	38.8	1.0	0.2	0.5 ^d	0.3	0.9	0.7	0.6	1.0	1.3	1.1	
Haiti	2012 D	0.237	48.4	4,894 °	48.9	19.3	4.8	32.6	6.2	48.0	43.1	36.2	42.5	34.5	33.3	
Haiti	2016/2017 D	0.192	39.9	4,336 °	48.1 ^d	15.6	3.8	22.8	6.5 ^d	39.7	35.1	28.6	35.7	29.0	31.4 ^d	
Honduras	2005/2006 D ^{e,I}	0.186	36.7	2,839 °	50.7	15.7	2.0	18.6	24.3	34.1	25.7	12.9		32.9	22.0	
Honduras	2011/2012 De,I	0.108	22.8	2,007 °	47.2	9.6	1.0	10.6	13.6	21.7	16.2	7.4		20.9	8.2	
Honduras	2019 M ¹	0.049	10.8	1,080	44.9	4.9	0.6	5.6	5.5	10.2	5.9	1.9		8.1	5.4	
India	2005/2006 D	0.283	55.1	645,676 °	51.3	44.3	4.5	24.0	19.8	52.9	50.4	16.4	29.0	44.9	37.5	
India	2015/2016 D	0.122	27.7	370,509 °	44.0	21.1	2.2	11.6	5.5	26.0	24.4	5.7	8.6	23.5	9.5	
India	2019/2021 D	0.069	16.4	230,739	42.0	11.8	1.5	7.7	3.9	13.9	11.3	2.7	2.1	13.6	5.6	
Indonesia	2012 D ⁱ	0.028	6.9	17,198 °	40.3		2.0	2.9	2.1	5.6	5.1	4.1	1.8	3.0	3.6	
Indonesia	2017 D ⁱ	0.014	3.6	9,509 °	38.7		1.5	1.5	0.7	2.4	2.2	1.3	0.8	1.3	1.7	
Iraq	2011 M	0.057	14.4	4,665 °	39.6	9.9	2.6	6.9	11.1	0.9	1.9	2.1	0.7	5.0	0.5	
Iraq	2018 M	0.033	8.6	3,505 °	37.9	5.0	1.4	5.5	6.5	0.2	1.4	0.4	0.1	1.3	0.2	
Jordan	2012 D	0.002	0.5	38 °	33.8	0.2	0.3	0.2	0.3	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	
Jordan	2017/2018 D	0.002 d	0.4 ^d	45 °	35.3	0.2 d	0.2 d	0.2 d	0.2 d	0.0 d	0.0	0.1 ^d	0.0 d	0.1 ^d	0.0 d	
Kazakhstan	2010/2011 Mf	0.003	0.9	150 °	36.2	0.6	0.7	0.0	0.1	0.4	0.0	0.4	0.0	0.5	0.1	
Kazakhstan	2015 M ^f	0.002	0.5	82 ^c	35.5 ^d	0.5 d	0.4 ^d	0.0 ^d	0.0 ^d	0.0	0.0 ^d	0.1	0.0 d	0.1	0.0	
Kenya	2008/2009 D	0.247	52.2	21,089 °	47.3	33.5	5.5	12.0	8.5	51.7	46.0	37.6	50.1	52.0	28.9	
Kenya	2014 D	0.171	37.5	17,176 °	45.6	20.6	3.5	9.9	5.4	36.8	33.0	26.9	35.0	37.4	20.0	
Kyrgyzstan	2005/2006 M	0.036	9.4	493 ^c	38.0	4.4	6.1	0.0	1.7	8.1	2.0	4.4	0.2	8.0	4.6	
Kyrgyzstan	2014 M ^f	0.012	3.4	195 °	37.2 d	2.4	1.9	0.2 ^d	0.5	2.2	0.1	2.0	0.1 ^d	2.8	0.1	
Kyrgyzstan	2018 M ^f	0.004	1.1	68 °	36.9 ^d	1.0	0.9	0.0 ^d	0.2 ^d	0.4	0.1 d	0.3	0.0 d	0.1	0.0 d	
Lao People's Democratic Republic	2011/2012 M	0.210	40.2	2,619 °	52.1	21.2	5.4	30.9	16.6	40.2	31.7	18.5	21.8	26.7	15.7	
Lao People's Democratic Republic	2017 M	0.108	23.1	1,615 °	47.0	12.0	1.9	16.6	9.1	22.9	17.2	10.4	6.1	12.0	7.1	
Lesotho	2009 D ^{e,k}	0.195	42.2	847 ^c	46.2	19.1	4.0	15.0	10.9		38.0	25.7	41.3	34.5	30.6	
Lesotho	2014 D ^{e,k}	0.128	28.3	594 °	45.0	12.5	3.1 d	11.6	5.3		20.4	17.0	28.0	24.5	20.5	
Lesotho	2018 M ^k	0.084	19.6	431 °	43.0	9.6	1.5	5.5	3.7		14.8	11.6	18.4	15.9	15.2	
Liberia	2007 D	0.463	81.4	2,959 °	56.9	41.4	10.8	35.9	56.7	81.3	77.1	34.0	80.6	61.6	64.5	
Liberia	2013 D	0.326	63.5	2,812 °	51.3	32.3	8.4	30.5	23.6	63.4	59.5	31.1 ^d	61.7	48.6	38.0	
Liberia	2019/2020 D	0.259	52.3	2,662 °	49.6	24.6	6.1	25.6	18.9	51.8	46.8	22.8	47.8	36.6	35.4 ^d	
Madagascar	2008/2009 De	0.433	75.7	15,984 °	57.2	33.2	6.2	59.0	26.4	75.6	75.3	56.0	72.4	68.9	55.9	
Madagascar	2018 M	0.372	67.4	18,086 °	55.2	25.5	5.2	49.3	26.6 d	67.2	66.6	52.1 d	54.3	60.4	48.5	
Malawi	2010 De	0.330	66.8	9,825 °	49.5	30.2	7.8	33.2	15.6	66.7	63.0	40.2	64.6	59.8	39.8	
Malawi	2015/2016 De	0.244	52.6	9,151 °	46.3	25.9	4.6	26.3	7.3	52.5	28.9	30.5	51.6	48.3	34.0	
Malawi	2019/2020 M	0.231 ^d	49.9	9,674	46.3 d	22.2	3.6	27.6 d	7.8 ^d	49.7	32.2	22.3	46.8	44.9	36.8	
Mali	2006 De	0.501	83.7	11,406 °	59.9	43.0	19.4	68.6	54.0	83.5	45.0	44.8	77.0	71.2	26.1	
Mali	2015 M	0.418	73.1	13,245 °	57.1	43.9 ^d	17.0	39.3	56.7 d	72.8	55.5	33.9	52.2	60.9	5.7	
Mali	2018 D ^e	0.361	66.4	13,244 °	54.4	29.9	11.7	45.8	45.9	65.9	50.8	33.4 ^d	43.2	48.8	8.2	
Mauritania	2011 M	0.356	62.7	2,208 °	56.8	30.7	8.3	43.1	41.8	50.5	52.7	39.6	51.5	51.1	22.9	
Mauritania	2015 M	0.307	56.2	2,217 °	54.7	27.8	5.0	42.0 ^d	30.3	47.0 ^d	46.2	31.3	48.1 ^d	47.9 ^d	17.1	
Mauritania	2019/2021 De	0.321 d	57.4 d	2,649	55.9 ^d	27.6 d	5.3 d	40.1 ^d	42.2	47.3 ^d	41.8 d	30.0 ^d	46.9 ^d	46.2 d	20.0	
Mexico	2012 N ^g	0.040	9.6	11,142 °	41.3	7.4		2.1	1.3	4.1	4.0	1.7	0.6	4.5	2.2	
Mexico	2016 N ^g	0.031	7.9	9,645 °	39.5	6.3 d		1.6 d	0.9 d	2.9	2.5	0.9	0.2	3.3	1.3	
Mexico	2020 N ^g	0.028 ^d	7.4 ^d	9,316	37.9 ^d	6.7 ^d		0.5	0.7 d	2.1 ^d	1.2	0.3	0.1 ^d	2.2 d	0.8 ^d	
Moldova (Republic of)	2005 De	0.006	1.5	60 °	36.6	0.3	0.1	0.9	0.4	1.2	0.9	0.5	0.1	0.7	1.3	
Moldova (Republic of)	2012 M	0.003	0.9	31 °	37.6 ^d	0.2 ^d	0.0	0.6 ^d	0.2 ^d	0.6	0.7 ^d	0.5 ^d	0.1 ^d	0.5 ^d	0.5	
Mongolia	2010 M	0.081	19.6	530 °	41.4	6.1	9.1	4.5	1.6	18.7	19.5	12.6	9.7	17.4	3.9	
Mongolia	2013 M ^{f,m}	0.056	13.4	381°	41.7 ^d	3.8	6.2	4.3 ^d	1.0	12.9	13.2	8.4	7.5	11.2	1.2	
Mongolia	2018 M ^{f,m}	0.039	9.9	314 °	39.3	2.9	4.1	2.9	1.6	9.5	9.6	6.4	0.9	8.4	0.8	

			mult	Population in idimensional p				People wh	o are multidir	nensionally	poor and dep	orived in ea	ch indicator		
	Multidimen: Poverty In		Неа	adcount (thousands)	Intensity of deprivation	Nutrition	Child mortality	Years of schooling	School attendance	Cooking fuel	Sanitation	Drinking water	Electricity	Housing	Assets
	Year and			In survey							·		·		
Country	SULVEA	Value	(%)	year	(%)	(%)	(%)	(%)	(%)	(%)	(%)	(%)	(%)	(%)	(%)
Montenegro	2013 M ^f 2018 M ^f	0.002 0.005 ^d	0.4 1.2 d	2	44.2 39.6 ^d	0.1 1.0 ^d	0.2 0.8 ^d	0.2 0.3 ^d	0.2 0.3 ^d	0.3 1.1 ^d	0.2 0.2 ^d	0.0 0.0 ^d	0.1 0.0 ^d	0.2 0.3 ^d	0.1 0.0 ^d
Montenegro Morocco	2010 M ²	0.005	17.3	ہ 5,680 ^د	45.5	6.3	6.6	13.7	6.8	5.5	8.8	11.4	5.3	6.4	4.1
Morocco	2017/2018 Pf	0.078	7.9	2,824 °	43.5	3.7	3.6	5.4	3.1	1.9	2.5	3.7	1.1	2.5	1.3
Mozambique	2003 D	0.516	84.3	16,183 °	61.2	41.8	12.8	65.6	41.5	84.0	84.0	68.1	81.5	68.7	58.0
Mozambique	2011 D	0.401	71.2	16,912 °	56.3	36.9	7.6	50.2	29.7	70.8	63.2	54.8	66.7	49.6	42.9
Namibia	2006/2007 D	0.205	43.0	864°	47.7	27.2	4.6	11.6	11.8	40.6	40.0	20.0	39.4	37.7	25.3
Namibia	2013 D	0.158	35.1	774 °	44.9	23.2	3.7 d	7.4	7.7	33.0	32.3	18.7 d	31.6	27.5	14.8
Nepal	2011 De	0.185	39.1	10,671 °	47.4	20.0	2.4	27.6	8.0	38.6	34.1	9.1	19.1	37.6	21.0
Nepal	2016 De	0.111	25.7	7,164 °	43.2	13.7	1.8 ^d	17.9	4.1	24.9	16.3	3.4	6.4	24.3	11.8
Nepal	2019 M	0.075	17.7	5,105 °	42.4 ^d	9.4	1.0	11.7	3.6 ^d	16.4	6.6	2.7 d	5.6 ^d	16.4	10.4 ^d
Nicaragua	2001 D	0.221	41.7	2,168 °	52.9	16.3	2.8	26.8	21.1	40.7	36.7	27.9	26.4	34.2	30.6
Nicaragua	2011/2012 D	0.074	16.5	993 °	45.3	4.5	0.6	12.5	3.7	16.2	6.2	13.6	11.5	13.5	9.1
Niger	2006 D	0.668	92.9	13,347 °	71.9	64.6	26.1	81.8	65.7	92.8	90.2	67.5	87.9	85.2	64.8
Niger	2012 D	0.594	89.9	16,135 °	66.1	57.9	18.8	74.3	57.7	89.3	84.0	59.9	82.5	80.9	46.0
Nigeria	2013 D	0.287	51.3	89,682 °	55.9	34.9	11.9	26.2	26.7	50.1	36.7	34.2	37.1	41.5	17.8
Nigeria	2018 D	0.254	46.4	92,085 °	54.8 ^d	33.8 ^d	13.4	19.5	23.6	45.5	36.0 ^d	25.3	32.0	32.8	15.5
North Macedonia	2005/2006 Mg	0.031	7.6	159 °	40.7	5.8		2.0	2.0	4.2	1.9	0.7	0.2	1.6	0.7
North Macedonia	2011 M ^g	0.010	2.5	53 °	37.7	1.8		0.5	0.5	1.6	0.8 d	0.1	0.0 ^d	0.8 ^d	0.2
North Macedonia	2018/2019 M ^g	0.005	1.4	29	37.8 ^d	1.2 ^d		0.2 ^d	0.1 ^d	0.7	0.4 ^d	0.0 ^d	0.1 ^d	0.0	0.1 ^d
Pakistan	2012/2013 D	0.233	44.5	91,326 °	52.3	32.3	8.7	25.7	27.5	38.2	29.4	9.1	6.3	35.9	17.3
Pakistan	2017/2018 D	0.198	38.3	84,228 °	51.7 ^d	27.0	5.9	24.8 d	24.3 d	31.2	21.7	7.9 ^d	7.1 ^d	30.6	12.2
Palestine, State of	2010 M	0.004	1.1	44 ^c	35.4	0.8	0.5	0.2	0.6	0.1	0.3	0.0	0.3	0.1	0.2
Palestine, State of	2014 M	0.003 ^d	0.8 d	35 °	35.8 ^d	0.6 ^d	0.5 ^d	0.1 d	0.5 ^d	0.1 d	0.0	0.0 ^d	0.0	0.0 ^d	0.1 d
Palestine, State of	2019/2020 M	0.002 d	0.5 d	27 °	34.7 d	0.5 ^d	0.3 ^d	0.0 ^d	0.3 ^d	0.0 ^d	0.1 d	0.0 ^d	0.0 ^d	0.0 ^d	0.0 ^d
Peru	2012 D	0.053	12.7	3,766 °	41.6	5.9	0.5	5.6	1.9	11.5	11.2	6.0	6.0	12.5	6.0
Peru	2018 N	0.029	7.4	2,376 °	39.6	2.4	0.4	3.3	2.2 d	6.1	6.2	3.1	2.3	7.1	3.2
Peru	2019 N	0.029 d	7.4 d	2,416	39.7 d	2.3 ^d	0.4 d	2.9	2.8	5.8 d	6.1 ^d	3.1 d	2.1 d	6.9 d	3.1 ^d
Philippines	2013 Din	0.037	7.1	7,101 °	52.0		2.2	4.4		6.6	4.4	2.4	3.7	5.1	4.4
Philippines	2017 D ^{j,n}	0.028	5.6	5,939 °	49.8		1.5	3.7 d		4.8	3.1	1.7	2.2	3.8	3.1
Rwanda	2010 D	0.338	66.8	6,888°	50.6	34.8	6.7	43.6	11.5	66.6	29.8	46.6	65.3	63.4	46.8
Rwanda	2014/2015 D 2019/2020 D	0.282 0.231	57.5	6,697 °	49.0	27.1 23.0	3.3 3.3 ^d	36.9 28.9	10.9 d	57.4	29.0 d	40.4	52.4	54.1	39.4 36.9 ^d
Rwanda Sao Tome and Principe	2019/2020 D 2008/2009 De	0.231	48.8 40.7	6,418 73 °	47.3 45.4	17.4	4.4	20.9	8.0 12.1	48.7 36.3	24.9 35.1	34.8 16.8	36.5 29.3	44.4 1.3	28.4
Sao Tome and Principe	2008/2009 D	0.091	22.0	43	41.6	8.5	1.7	15.3	5.3	15.0	19.6	8.9	15.1	0.3	13.0
Sao Tome and Principe	2014 M	0.091	11.9	43	41.0 41.3 d	4.7	0.8	7.1	4.0 ^d	9.4	19.0	3.4	7.0	0.3 d	7.5
Senegal	2005 De	0.381	64.2	7,050 °	59.3	30.2	19.0	52.1	47.4	52.8	32.4	34.9	49.2	33.8	37.4
Senegal	2017 D	0.282	52.4	7,937 °	53.8	28.9 ^d	9.0	32.4	44.5 ^d	49.0 ^d	31.8 d	17.8	33.1	21.0	10.5
Senegal	2019 D	0.260 d	50.3 ^d	8,048 °	51.6	26.6 d	5.8	32.4 d	43.7 ^d	46.5 d	28.7 d	15.6 d	25.6	15.3	10.0 ^d
Serbia	2010 M ^f	0.001	0.2	14 °	42.6	0.1	0.1	0.1	0.1	0.2	0.1	0.0	0.0	0.1	0.1
Serbia	2014 M ^f	0.001 ^d	0.3 d	24 °	42.5 d	0.1 d	0.0 d	0.3 d	0.1 d	0.3 d	0.2 d	0.0 d	0.1 d	0.2 d	0.1 ^d
Serbia	2019 M ^r	0.000	0.1	8 °	38.1 ^d	0.0	0.1 d	0.1	0.0 ^d	0.1 d	0.0	0.0 ^d	0.0	0.0 d	0.0
Sierra Leone	2013 De	0.409	74.1	5,158 °	55.2	39.0	15.9	37.4	32.0	73.9	69.7	45.7	71.2	57.7	45.0
Sierra Leone	2017 M	0.300	58.3	4,478 °	51.5	25.4	7.9	33.0	19.9	58.0	54.5	34.0	54.6	43.3	37.1
Sierra Leone	2019 De	0.272	55.2	4,443 °	49.3	24.0 d	9.4	26.9	15.1	55.1	50.8	33.9 ^d	51.8 ^d	38.4	34.1
Sudan	2010 M	0.317	57.0	19,232 °	55.5	28.8	7.4	31.3	29.3	50.0	50.9	40.7	48.4	56.9	32.5
Sudan	2014 M	0.279	52.3	19,363 °	53.4	29.8 d	5.6	27.0	21.9	43.8	46.1	35.8	42.6	51.9	30.3 ^d
Suriname	2006 M ^g	0.059	12.7	66 °	46.2	7.3		7.0	2.2	6.0	7.5	5.3	4.3	5.1	6.6
Suriname	2010 M ^g	0.041	9.5	52 °	43.2 ^d	5.6		4.9 ^d	1.5 ^d	4.0 ^d	5.4 d	2.6	2.4 ^d	3.2 d	3.3
Suriname	2018 M ^g	0.026	6.7	40 ^c	38.6	4.9 ^d		1.8	1.0 ^d	1.2	2.2	0.5	1.0	1.4	1.8
Tajikistan	2012 D	0.049	12.2	970 °	40.4	10.5	2.8	0.4	6.3	7.9	1.3	7.5	0.5	10.3	1.7
Tajikistan	2017 D	0.029	7.4	661 °	39.0 ^d	6.2	2.1 ^d	0.1 ^d	4.5	3.4	0.3	3.5	0.1 ^d	5.6	0.3
Tanzania (United Republic of)	2010 D	0.342	67.8	30,565 °	50.5	40.9	7.6	14.7	25.3	67.5	64.0	55.4	65.9	61.3	36.6
Tanzania (United Republic of)	2015/2016 D	0.285	57.1	31,074 °	49.8 d	32.5	5.9	12.3	25.7 d	56.9	53.7	43.4	55.2	47.4	26.5
Thailand	2012 M ^f	0.005	1.4	961 °	36.9	0.8	0.5	1.0	0.2	0.8	0.2	0.2	0.1	0.3	0.3
Thailand	2015/2016 M ^f	0.003	0.8	592 °	39.0 d	0.4	0.3 d	0.6	0.3 d	0.3	0.2 d	0.1	0.1 d	0.2 d	0.1
Thailand	2019 M ^f	0.002	0.6 ^d	412 °	36.7 d	0.3 ^d	0.1 ^d	0.4 d	0.2 ^d	0.3 ^d	0.1 d	0.0 d	0.0 d	0.1 ^d	0.1 d
Timor-Leste	2009/2010 D	0.362	69.6	758 °	52.0	49.7	5.7	21.5	30.1	69.3	49.3	40.8	54.8	61.4	54.4
Timor-Leste	2016 D	0.215	46.9	574 °	45.9	33.2	3.6	15.9	14.8	45.6	31.7	18.6	19.2	40.7	29.1
Togo	2010 M	0.321	58.2	3,828 °	55.1	24.4	29.6	32.4	15.3	58.1	56.5	40.1	52.3	37.8	27.4
Togo	2013/2014 D ^{e,f}	0.301 ^d	55.1 ^d	4,018 °	54.5 ^d	25.1 ^d	29.7 d	26.6	15.7 ^d	54.9 ^d	53.4 d	36.6 ^d	46.8	37.6 ^d	20.6

		-	mult	Population in idimensional p		People who are multidimensionally poor and deprived in each indicator										
	Multidimensional Poverty Indexª		Неа	dcount (thousands)	Intensity of		Child mortality	Years of schooling	School attendance	Cooking fuel	Sanitation	Drinking water	Electricity	Housing	Assets	
Country	Year and survey⁵	Value	(%)	In survey year	(%)	(%)	(%)	(%)	(%)	(%)	(%)	(%)	(%)	(%)	(%)	
Togo	2017 M ^f	0.213	43.0	3,373 °	49.6	18.3	17.7	19.3	11.3	42.5	40.7	24.7	33.0	27.7	15.5	
Tunisia	2011/2012 M	0.006	1.4	154 °	40.0	0.6	0.2	1.1	0.5	0.2	0.7	0.7	0.2	0.1	0.6	
Tunisia	2018 M	0.003	0.8	94 °	36.5	0.4 ^d	0.1	0.7 ^d	0.4 ^d	0.0 ^d	0.2	0.2	0.0	0.1 ^d	0.1	
Turkmenistan	2006 M ^k	0.012	3.3	161 °	37.8	2.1	2.6	0.0	1.3		0.4	1.1	0.0	1.1	0.8	
Turkmenistan	2015/2016 M ^{f,k}	0.004	1.1	63 °	34.9	0.9	1.0	0.0 ^d	0.2		0.1 ^d	0.0	0.0 d	0.0	0.0	
Turkmenistan	2019 M ^{f,k}	0.003 d	0.9 ^d	58 °	33.6 ^d	0.9 ^d	0.9 ^d	0.0	0.2 d		0.0 d	0.0 ^d	0.0 d	0.0 ^d	0.0 d	
Uganda	2011 D	0.349	67.7	22,550 °	51.5	42.2	9.7	29.3	15.2	67.3	60.3	51.4	66.4	61.9	31.9	
Uganda	2016 D	0.281	57.2	22,157 °	49.2	35.1	5.3	22.6	13.8 ^d	56.9	50.4	41.9	50.2	49.7	26.4	
Ukraine	2007 D ^j	0.001	0.4	165	36.4		0.3	0.1	0.0	0.1	0.1	0.0	0.0	0.1	0.1	
Ukraine	2012 M ^j	0.001	0.2 ^d	107	34.5		0.2 d	0.1 d	0.1 ^d	0.1 d	0.0 d	0.0 ^d	0.0 d	0.0 ^d	0.0 d	
Viet Nam	2013/2014 M ^j	0.019	4.9	4,495	39.3		0.9	3.6	1.4	4.5	4.1	1.3	0.4	3.1	1.2	
Viet Nam	2020/2021 M ^j	0.008	1.9	1,871	40.3 ^d		0.5	1.3	0.6	1.5	1.3	0.5	0.1	1.2	0.6	
Zambia	2007 De	0.343	65.2	8,082 °	52.7	36.6	9.3	18.7	30.7	64.1	58.3	51.4	63.0	55.6	39.8	
Zambia	2013/2014 De	0.263	53.3	8,388 ^c	49.3	31.3	6.4	13.7	21.8	53.0	45.0	35.4	50.6	44.2	25.2	
Zambia	2018 D	0.232	47.9	8,544 °	48.4	25.7	4.2	12.0 ^d	22.8 d	47.6	37.7	28.6	44.5	40.2 ^d	24.3 d	
Zimbabwe	2010/2011 De	0.156	36.1	4,702 °	43.3	18.8	4.2	4.4	8.1	35.5	29.6	23.7	34.3	26.8	25.0	
Zimbabwe	2015 De	0.130	30.2	4,276 °	43.0 ^d	16.7	3.7 d	4.1 ^d	5.9	29.7	24.5	21.7 d	29.4	20.9	16.5	
Zimbabwe	2019 M	0.110	25.8	3,962 °	42.6 d	12.3	3.2 ^d	3.5 d	7.8	25.2	21.4	19.8 d	19.3	16.4	15.0 ^d	

Notes

Suggested citation: Alkire, S., Kanagaratnam, U., and Suppa, N. 2022. "A Methodological Note on the Global Multidimensional Poverty Index (MPI) 2022 Changes over Time Results for 84 countries." OPHI MPI Methodological Note 54, Oxford Poverty and Human Development Initiative, University of Oxford, Oxford, UK. This paper has a section on each country detailing the harmonization decisions on each dataset. More extensive data tables, including disaggregated information, are available at https://www.ophi.org.uk.

- a When an indicator is missing, weights of available indicators are adjusted to total 100 percent. See Technical note 5 at http://hdr.undp.org/sites/default/files/mpi2022 _technical_notes.pdf and OPHI MPI Methodological Note 52 and OPHI MPI Methodological Note 54 at https://ophi.org.uk/publications/mpi-methodological -notes/ for details.
- b D indicates data from Demographic and Health Surveys, M indicates data from Multiple Indicator Cluster Surveys, P indicates data from Pan Arab Population and Family Health Surveys and N indicates data from national surveys.
- c The number of poor people differs from previously published estimates due to updated population data.
- d The difference between the harmonized estimates for this survey year and for the previous survey year is not statistically significant at the 95 percent confidence interval.

- e At least one other survey collected data on child nutrition only; in order to harmonize the data for trends, data on adult nutrition from this survey were omitted from the calculations. Typically, Demographic and Health Surveys collect data on child and adult nutrition, while Multiple Indicator Cluster Surveys collect data on child nutrition only.
- f Considers child deaths that occurred at any time because the survey at one or all points in time did not collect data on the date of child deaths.
- g Missing indicator on child mortality.
- h Based on the version of data accessed on 7 June 2016.
- i Missing indicator on housing.
- j Missing indicator on nutrition
- k Missing indicator on cooking fuel.
- I Missing indicator on electricity.
- Indicator on sanitation follows the national classification in which pit latrine with slab is considered unimproved.
- n Missing indicator on school attendance.

Definitions

Multidimensional Poverty Index: Proportion of the population that is multidimensionally poor adjusted by the intensity of the deprivations. See *Technical note* 5 at http://hdr.undp. org/sites/default/files/mpi2022_technical_notes.pdf and *OPHI MPI Methodological Note* 52 and *OPHI MPI Methodological* Note 54 at https://ophi.org.uk/publications/mpi-methodological -notes/ for details on how the Multidimensional Poverty Index is calculated.

Multidimensional poverty headcount: Population with a deprivation score of at least 33.3 percent. It is expressed as a share of the population in the survey year and the number of poor people in the survey year.

Intensity of deprivation of multidimensional poverty: Average deprivation score experienced by people in multidimensional poverty.

People who are multidimensionally poor and deprived in each indicator: Percentage of the population that is multidimensionally poor and deprived in the given indicator (censored headcount).

Main data sources

Column 1: Refers to the year and the survey whose data were used to calculate the country's MPI value and its components.

Columns 2–15: Data and methodology are described in Alkire, S., Kanagaratnam, U., and Suppa, N. 2022. "A Methodological Note on the Global Multidimensional Poverty Index (MPI) 2022 Changes over Time Results for 84 countries." OPHI MPI Methodological Note 54, Oxford Poverty and Human Development Initiative, University of Oxford, Oxford, UK. Column 5 also uses population data from United Nations Department of Economic and Social Affairs. 2022. World Population Prospects: The 2022 Revision. New York. https://esa.un.org/unpd/wpp/. Accessed 7 August 2022.

Human story



Fanja* is 59 years old and lives in a town of 5,000 people in eastern Madagascar. The town is situated on the outskirts of a forest and national park. The park is globally renowned for its lemur population. Fanja's household comprises two sons (ages 39 and 16) and a grandson (age 12). Fanja and her family live in a house with a metallic roof with mud and wattle walls and a beaten earth floor. Due to the dense rainforest surrounding the town, it rains a lot, and the roof leaks. It also gets very cold; for warmth the family huddles around their wood cook stove in the evenings. They do not have a toilet and instead use the bushes close to the house. They draw water from one of the abundant natural streams that flow from the forested hills near their home. For lighting they use kerosene lanterns and candles. The house is not connected to electricity, even though the village is connected to the main grid.

Fanja became the head of the family in 2001 after her husband died. She moved in with her sister's family in 2017 after her own house was destroyed by Tropical Cyclone Ava. She tried to reconstruct the house shortly afterward, but the unfinished structure was destroyed in 2020 during Tropical Storm Chalane.

For work Fanja crushes large rocks into gravel by hand using a mallet—a job she has done daily since she was 25. Crushing gravel starts with carrying rocks from the top of a steep hill near the house.

On each trip Fanja carries rocks weighing up to 20 kilograms. This takes about an hour round trip. Fanja used to make five trips a day, but at her current age she manages up to three. Each trip generates roughly one bag of gravel that usually sells for 2,000 ariary (50 cents). However, sometimes Fanja will accept less than 2,000 ariary just to get money to buy food. Fanja would willingly accept less strenuous work but admits her prospects are very low because she never went beyond reading and writing classes in school. Her older son started school but dropped out in the third year of primary education and now works as a night guard in town, where he earns 100,000 ariary (\$25) a month plus supper on most nights. He also spends part of his day helping his mother crush rocks. During their holidays Fanja's grandson and younger son join her in crushing rocks to raise money for their school fees. Her younger son is currently in the sixth year of primary education at the local public school. Her grandson is in the third year of primary education, but the family has been unable to raise enough money for him to start school again in September.

Given her advancing age, Fanja worries that she may not be able to manage the physicality of gravel making for much longer. Her work does not guarantee secure access to food, and the family plot of land is too small to support their food needs. They often have to share a single ration among them.

Fanja and her family are considered multidimensionally poor because they are deprived in nine indicators, which translates into a deprivation score of 83.3 percent. Furthermore, they are living in severe multidimensional poverty because their deprivation score is higher than 50 percent.



* Some details have been changed.

Note: Indicators in white refer to a nondeprivation.



United Nations Development Programme One United Nations Plaza New York, NY 10017, USA

www.undp.org

OPHI Oxford Poverty & Human Development Initiative

Oxford Poverty & Human Development Initiative (OPHI) 2 South Parks Rd, Oxford, Oxford OX1 3TB, UK

www.ophi.org.uk